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At SIM University (UniSIM), people take centrestage. 
 

Our students, alumni, partners, faculty and staff. Individuals with 
diverse aspirations but who share a common bond – the desire to 
be the difference. And to make a difference in their communities  

and in the lives of others.
 

As these people come together as one at UniSIM, a vibrant and 
synergistic community is created. One in which there is quality 

interaction and sharing across physical and virtual spaces, where 
open minds are engaged and connected, and relationships built. 
A community that inspires people to learn and grow to their fullest 

potential. In turn, these remarkable people are empowered to make 
a great impact in their respective communities.

 
Great people. Great communities. One inspiring the other.

Essentially UniSIM.
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Vision
Empowering society through lifelong 

education, remaining responsive to diverse 

learning needs and aspirations

Mission
To create excellence in lifelong education 

through a uniquely-designed learning 

experience, equipping learners for a  

better future

Core Values
Spirit of learning

Passion for excellence

Integrity in all we do

Respect and trust for the individual 

Innovation to lead

Teamwork for success

Corporate profile
As the only national private university in 
Singapore, UniSIM’s mission is to create 
excellence in lifelong education through a 
uniquely-designed learning experience that 
equips learners for a better future. Home to 
more than 13,000 students, UniSIM adopts a 
flexible and practice-focused learning approach 
and offers more than 50 academic programmes 
in various disciplines through four schools – 
School of Arts and Social Sciences, School 
of Business, School of Human Development 
and Social Services, and School of Science  
and Technology. 

Eligible students taking UniSIM’s undergraduate 
programmes enjoy government subsidies of up 
to 55% of tuition fees and access to government 
bursaries, tuition fee and study loans.

UniSIM is a not-for-profit university and the 
SIM University Education Fund has been a 
Singapore ‘Institution of a Public Character’ 
(IPC) since September 2005.

 2012 *  2011 *
 $’000  $’000

Course Fees and Other Income  88,661  82,386
Operating Expenses  65,101  60,158
Capability-building Expenditure  15,407  13,284
Net Surplus  8,153  8,944
Tax-deductible Donations Received  17,323  13,708

General Fund Reserve Level (1)  1.3 years  1.2 years
SIM University Education Fund Reserve Level (1)  4.7 years  4.2 years

* Year ended December 31
(1) Computed based on the formula: (bank balances + current available for sales investment + current held-to-maturity investments) / (total annual  
 expenditure including capital expenditure). UniSIM will target a reserve level of one year for both the General Fund and Education Fund taking into  
 consideration its future income streams and future operating and capital expenditure. The actual reserve level for the Education Fund will decrease  
 on completion of Phase 2 of the Campus Development Master Plan.

Key faCts  
and figures

finanCial 
highlights

Academic 
programmes 
* Excludes Diploma, Beijing Normal University  
 and Nanjing University programmes

Student 
enrolment

* Excludes Diploma, Beijing Normal University and 
Nanjing University students

Average 
age of 
students 

Alumni 

Non-
academic 
staff 

Graduates 
* Excludes Diploma and Beijing Normal  
 University graduates

Full-time 
faculty Associate 

faculty
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MESSAGE FROM 
THE CHANCELLOR 
AND CHAIRMAN

For the past seven years, UniSIM has been providing 
adult learners with a quality tertiary education that is 
designed to help them fulfil their aspirations. In the 
larger scheme of things, we are an enabler of people. 
What we provide is not merely the degree scroll at 
graduation – we open up worlds of knowledge for 
students, empower them with skills and bridges to 
industry for career advancement, and last but not 
least, better their lives and lives of those whom they 
serve in their respective professions.

We are in the business of nurturing great people – 
our students and alumni – and we can only do so 
because UniSIM is made up of great people who 
dedicate their time and energy to ensuring the 
University delivers all that it promises. This is the 
heart of UniSIM.

Rising Up To A National Agenda
Singapore has reached a point in her growth where 
the populace’s aspirations for a degree and more 
advanced skill sets are at an all-time high. This is 
a positive development as it reflects the hunger 
of people to broaden their minds and pursue their  
life goals.

Responding to the growing demand for university 
places, the Committee on University Education 
Pathways Beyond 2015 had, in August 2012, put 
forth recommendations to develop a new applied 
degree pathway that will open up tertiary education 

Professor cham tao soon
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opportunities that are relevant to the industry and 
Singapore’s economic needs. This will also ensure 
the employability of graduates.

Prime Minister Lee Hsien Loong, accompanied 
by a Ministry of Education delegation, made his 
maiden visit to UniSIM in August 2012. Through his 
interaction with UniSIM management staff, students 
and alumni, as well as the viewing of their works, he 
had the opportunity to observe their dedication and 
drive. He left impressed.

Later that month during his 2012 National Day 
Rally speech, Prime Minister Lee announced that 
the Singapore Government will introduce publicly-
funded full-time undergraduate degree places at 
UniSIM as an integral part of the applied degree 
pathway. UniSIM intends to admit both fresh school 
leavers and adults, taking into account factors 
beyond academic grades such as work experience 
and talents. Prime Minister Lee also announced that 
government loans and bursaries will be extended to 
our part-time students.

We are deeply heartened by the confidence 
placed in UniSIM. As Singapore’s only university 
that was originally set up for working adults, our 

competitive advantage is that we will be able 
to leverage our track record of close industry 
ties and strong theoretical knowledge to the 
benefit of our full-time students. Our value-add is  
that they will be given as much work experience as 
practicable, possibly more than they would get at 
any other traditional university.

With this new development, UniSIM will have to 
balance its role as a private university with part-
time students – the majority of whom are working  
adults – and a publicly-funded university for full-time 
undergraduates. We need to ensure that the same 
high standards we have established for our part-
time undergraduates will be upheld for the full-time 
university students, even as we see future interaction 
between both sets of students for mutual benefit.

With UniSIM, Singaporeans will now have more  
pathways to upgrade their qualifications and satisfy 
their social aspirations.

A Value-added Teaching Methodology
Be it part-time or full-time university students, 
what is important to all of them is the content of 
the programme, as well as the quality of learning. 
Effective learning is a skill in its own right and this 

is where UniSIM strives to add value. We have 
widened our support for students’ learning needs 
and exposed them to a rich variety of learning 
support activities aimed at enhancing their study 
skills. These include online courses, workshops and 
customised programmes to help students in their 
reading, listening and writing abilities.

We have also continued to bolster our faculty’s 
teaching capabilities with a series of teaching 
support initiatives launched during the year such as 
structured training of our associate faculty, learning 
interventions, as well as the sharing of teaching 
strategies and tools.

Another vital area of focus for UniSIM is e-Learning.  
We aim to have e-Learning for all UniSIM courses 
within 10 years. In 2012, we reinforced our 
teaching and learning support for e-Learning by 
yet again training our associates in effective online 
instruction. A set of hands-on workshops, talks, 
walk-in clinic sessions and a helpdesk were also 
established to render support. Training was similarly 
arranged for our students to ensure their familiarity 
with e-Learning. When e-Learning becomes our 
primary mode of delivery, learning will truly become 
borderless at UniSIM.

Thanks To Our People
UniSIM has developed a spirit of innovation that 
enables our people to embrace risks, overcome 
problems and be future-ready, and it is our  
people who will take the University further. I am 
grateful to our Patron, His Excellency President 
Tony Tan Keng Yam and the Board of Trustees for 
their constant guidance. I also wish to thank our 
management, faculty and staff for their dedication. 
With their support, we will work to advance UniSIM 
as the education model to emulate in Singapore  
and beyond.

PROfESSOR chAM TAO SOON 
Chancellor and Chairman
SIM University
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UniSIM is in the industry of people development. This 
simple yet potent statement carries with it enormous 
weight and responsibility. Our faculty and staff are 
fully cognisant of the fact that they do not merely 
perform a job – their role is to fulfil aspirations and 
groom talent for Singapore. On the other end of the 
scale, our students are here for a distinct purpose. 
They want to upgrade their qualifications, enhance 
their skills and broaden their minds. When these 
two objectives are harmonised, we ignite something 
powerful that has the ability to transform lives, both 
within and outside of UniSIM.

With this in mind, the focus of 2012 was on  
strengthening the two trademarks of a UniSIM 
education – quality and flexibility.

Ensuring Quality Is first
Within the space of seven years, we have built 
a strong reputation for UniSIM. With an offering 
of more than 50 programmes and an enrolment 
numbering 13,000, UniSIM has become a  
recognised and trusted brand in the higher education 
arena in Singapore.

As we expand, it is imperative that quality is not 
compromised. Besides our rigorous academic 
system, our Programme Advisory Committees, with 
members comprising academic and industry leaders 
who bring experience and expertise specific to each 
individual programme, and External Examiners 

MESSAGE FROM 
THE PRESIDENT

Professor Cheong Hee Kiat



11

help us to ascertain the relevance and uphold the 
standards of our offerings. Being within the Ministry 
of Education’s Quality Assurance Framework for 
Universities, UniSIM prepared for, and successfully 
underwent, a university-wide audit which was also a 
thorough and beneficial exercise that allowed us to 
raise the bar in all that we do.

Ultimately, the quality of a UniSIM education is only  
as good as our faculty. It is the people who will take 
the University higher, working in a culture that grooms 
great people and have this translate into effective 
teaching and research. Research undertaken at 
UniSIM is purposefully applied and industry-focused, 
so as to contribute to society in a meaningful way. In 
2012, a number of our faculty members made their 
mark on the  education landscape with their research 
and publications. This is especially encouraging 
in light of the fact that UniSIM is not a research-
intensive university.

championing flexibility Always
UniSIM’s adult learners are a driven lot. Despite  
their hectic schedules, they are determined to  
upgrade their skills, which in turn lead to enhanced  
opportunities for them and greater contribution to 
society. Our flexible mode of teaching – another 
distinctive hallmark of the UniSIM education – 
empowers our students by helping them better juggle 
their studies, career, family and social responsibilities. 

Our goal is to have e-Learning as the primary mode 
of delivery – one that brings about accessible and 
effective learning. Quizzes, assignments and self-
appraisals are executed online while facilitators 
ensure learning takes place by providing support 
and validation to students.

During the year in review, we more than doubled our 
number of e-Courses. We stepped up efforts to refine 
the way our e-Learning is implemented, especially 
with regard to training initiatives to prepare our faculty 
and students for the optimal usage of e-Learning. It 
is my hope and personal belief that e-Learning will 
not only become the pervasive form of learning at 
UniSIM but also eventually the mode preferred by 
both students and faculty.

Strengthening Our community Links
UniSIM is part of a larger ecosystem in which we 
work inter-dependently with the community. Our 
programmes are thus deliberately focused on areas 
that make a real difference to our society. This 
resonates well with the new applied degree pathway 
announced by Prime Minister Lee Hsien Loong at his 
2012 National Day Rally to groom graduates who are 
tuned to meet industry and economic needs. In this 
respect, we are privileged to have gained the trust 
and goodwill of the industry. Our partners believe 
in the UniSIM mission and we, on our part, do our 
utmost to ensure that their trust is not misplaced. 

An example of the industry’s confidence in UniSIM 
is when our Accountancy programme earned 
accreditation from both the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority of Singapore, and the Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore in 
2012, even before it turned out its pioneer cohort 
of graduates. Our close nexus with the community 
around us is evidenced in the new partnership we 
signed this year with the People’s Association to 
launch the Master of Community Leadership and 
Social Development programme – Singapore’s first 
graduate degree in this area, aimed at strengthening 
our nation’s social fabric and its people. We continue 
to run niche programmes like our Bachelor of Arts 
in Tamil Language and Literature and our Bachelor 
of Early Childhood Education which benefit only 
a minute segment of our working population who 
would otherwise not have the opportunity for 
degree upgrading in these disciplines. Our research 
initiatives in areas such as gerontology, service 
excellence and technology-enabled learning are 
also geared towards the greater good of society.

Indeed, it is our strong community linkages that 
contribute to our differentiation. As adult learners are 
markedly different from full-time undergraduates in 
terms of their needs and inclinations, they tend to 
be more focused on the relevance of their studies 
to the workplace. As the Singapore economy moves 
further up the value chain, specialised skills and 

knowledge pivoted on real industry needs are vital. 
With more graduates and Professionals, Managers 
and Executives (PMEs) in Singapore, there is a need 
for our students to better differentiate themselves to 
the ever-discerning employers. I am glad our strong 
industry orientation is arming them to do so.

We are greatly encouraged that our strong bias 
for quality, flexibility and community relevance 
is bearing fruit with the increasing recognition 
that UniSIM is getting, in the many who wish to 
study at UniSIM and the many creating better 
lives for themselves and their communities as  
our graduates.

In Appreciation
Education is about people. The best programmes  
and facilities will not achieve much without the 
dedication and drive of our Board of Trustees, 
students, alumni, partners, faculty and staff. With 
their unwavering support, I am confident that UniSIM 
will continue to grow and build on its achievements.

PROfESSOR chEONG hEE kIAT 
President
SIM University
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Finance Committee

Professor Bernard Tan 
(Chairman)
Mr Ronnie Tay
Adjunct Professor  
Seah Moon Ming
Mr Wong Hong Kuan
Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

Establishment Committee

Professor Cham Tao Soon 
(Chairman)
Mr Ong Boon Hwee
Professor Leo Tan Wee Hin
Mr Ronald Tan Hee Huan
Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

MR RIchARD Y M EU
Group Chief Executive Officer
Eu Yan Sang International Ltd

PROfESSOR chONG chI TAT
University Professor
Department of Mathematics 
National University of Singapore

PROfESSOR chEONG hEE kIAT
President
SIM University

Ex-Officio
SIM University Board of Trustees

MR WONG hONG kUAN
chief Executive
Singapore Workforce  
Development Agency

MR RONALD TAN hEE hUAN
Executive Director
Singapore Institute of Management

PROfESSOR LEO TAN WEE hIN
Director (Special Projects)
faculty of Science
National University of Singapore

ASSOcIATE PROfESSOR  
YIP WOON kWONG
Registrar
SIM University

Secretary
SIM University Board of Trustees

MR RONNIE TAY
Chief Executive Officer
Infocomm Development Authority  
of Singapore

MR ONG BOON hWEE
Managing Director
Beyond Horizon Consulting Pte Ltd

PROfESSOR BERNARD TAN
Professor of Physics
National University of Singapore

Board  
of trustees

PROfESSOR chAM TAO SOON
chancellor
SIM University

chairman
SIM University Board of Trustees

Special Advisor to SIM Group

President Emeritus
Nanyang Technological University

ADJUNcT PROfESSOR  
LEE kWOk chEONG
Chief Executive Officer
Singapore Institute of Management  
Pte Ltd

ADJUNcT PROfESSOR 
SEAh MOON MING
Executive Director and  
Group Chief Executive Officer
Pavilion Energy Pte Ltd

MR WILLIAM LIM
Deputy Director
higher Education Division
Ministry of Education
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ASSOcIATE PROfESSOR  
GENIcE NGG
Dean
School of Arts and Social Sciences

ASSOcIATE PROfESSOR 
PhILIP chEANG
Dean
School of Science and Technology

ASSOcIATE PROfESSOR 
WONG YUE kEE
Vice President
Learning Services

PROfESSOR TAN NGOh TIONG
Dean
School of Human Development  
and Social Services

ASSOcIATE PROfESSOR 
YIP WOON kWONG
Registrar

ASSOcIATE PROfESSOR 
LEE PUI MUN
Dean
School of Business
(with effect from 13 October 2012)

PROfESSOR TSUI kAI chONG
Provost

PROfESSOR kOh hIAN chYE
Dean
School of Business
(until 12 October 2012)

PROfESSOR chEONG hEE kIAT
President

• Sets up the UniSIM Centre for Chinese Studies to 
raise awareness and understanding of the Chinese 
language, culture and contemporary Chinese society

• Collaborates with the Singapore Computer Society to  
launch a new student chapter to enable UniSIM 
students to leverage the numerous networking and 
training opportunities available

JANUARY

• Launches UniSIM Mobile for Android™ and Apple® iOS 
mobile device users to enable them to connect with 
UniSIM anytime, anywhere

july

• Partners Creative Media Academy to develop a suite of 
courses in broadcast engineering and extend delivery 
of continuing education and training to the South East  
Asian region

• Following a visit to UniSIM, Prime Minister Lee  
Hsien Loong announces that UniSIM will be  
participating in the Government’s plan to increase 
the number of publicly-funded full-time university 
places, and that its part-time students will be  
eligible for government bursaries and loans, similar 
to their counterparts at the Singapore autonomous 
universities

august

• Signs MOU with SPRING Singapore to facilitate a wider 
adoption by companies of the Business Excellence 
framework as a management tool to improve 
organisational performance

• Collaborates with the Science Centre Board to interest 
and teach young mathematical, science and technology 
talents more about man-made technology and creation

• Launches the Social Resilience Enhancement Fund to 
support and advance knowledge, skills and leadership 
in the “helping professions” and in social development

• The Bachelor of Accountancy programme gets  
accredited by the Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants of Singapore (ICPAS), paving the way for 
graduates to become ICPAS Associates

november

• Partners People’s Association to introduce Singapore’s 
first Master of Community Leadership and Social 
Development programme that focuses on practical 
knowledge and skills required for sound leadership and 
an in-depth understanding of social development

• Signs MOU with Accenture, AECOM, Motorola 
Solutions, NCS, ST Electronics Large-Scale Systems 
Group, ST Electronics Info-Comm Systems and ST 
Kinetics to provide industrial attachment placements 
for students of UniSIM’s Master of Science in Urban 
Transport Management programme

february

• Establishes the Institutional Review Board to ensure  
an ethical and responsible climate for research  
development programmes

june

• Collaborates with the Building and Construction 
Authority, and the Construction Industry Joint  
Committee to ensure the industry relevance of 
the Bachelor of Building and Project Management 
programme through the appointment of professionals  
on UniSIM’s Academic Advisory Committee and 
as course designers, developers, instructors and 
assessors

• The Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority 
accredits the Bachelor of Accountancy programme, 
hence recognising it as a qualification for registering 
public accountants under the Accountants Act (Cap. 2)

may

Key aCadeMiC  
MeMBers

Milestones
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At UniSIM, we launch new programmes and courses 
only when we are confident that they will add value to 
individual lives and serve industry and national needs. 
During the year, two such programmes were introduced, 
viz., the Master of Community Leadership and Social 
Development, and the Bachelor of Building and  
Project Management.

Launched in partnership with the National Community 
Leadership Institute, the training arm of the People’s 
Association (PA), the Master of Community Leadership 
and Social Development is Singapore’s first graduate 
degree in this area. This multi-disciplinary programme, 
offered through our School of Human Development and 
Social Services, addresses the growing need for more 
community leaders and social development professionals 
who have practical leadership skills, as well as an in-depth 
understanding of Singapore’s growth as a society. Based 

The global economy of today calls for graduates who are not only knowledgeable in their specific disciplines but who 
are able to demonstrate a wider range of life competencies. At UniSIM, we provide our students with programmes that 
are as rigorous as they are relevant to the real world by adopting practice-oriented curricula and pedagogies that are 
centred on industry needs. We groom our students to be self-directed learners and steeped in critical thinking. All these 
enable them to be dynamic and contributing members of society and the workplace.

Programmes And courses
As the only national private university in Singapore, UniSIM 
strives to create excellence in lifelong education through 
a uniquely-designed experience that equips learners 
for a better future. Home to some 13,000 students, our 
University offers more than 50 programmes in various 
disciplines through four schools – the School of Arts and 
Social Sciences, School of Business, School of Human 
Development and Social Services, and School of Science 
and Technology.

In October, 1,838 graduates received their degree scrolls 
at Convocation 2012, among whom were the pioneer 
cohorts of the Master of Counselling, Master of Science in 
Urban Transport Management, Bachelor of Arts in Malay 
Language and Literature, Bachelor of Science in Business 
with Military Studies, Bachelor of Science in Logistics and 
Supply Chain Management, and Bachelor of Engineering 
in Aerospace Systems programmes.

Ler Ser Yeng
Master of Community Leadership 
and Social Development student

eSwari annavee
Master of Community Leadership 
and Social Development student

eMpowering 
learners

Deputy Prime Minister 
and Minister for 
Finance, Mr Tharman 
Shanmugaratnam, 
presenting a plaque  
to an award winner  
at UniSIM  
Convocation 2012.

Signing of the MOU 
with PA for the 
Master of Community 
Leadership and 
Social Development 
programme (from 
left): Professor 
Cheong Hee Kiat, 
President of UniSIM; 
Professor Cham Tao 
Soon, Chancellor and 
Chairman of UniSIM; 
Senior Minister of 
State Ms Grace Fu 
and Mr Yam Ah Mee, 
Chief Executive 
Director of PA.

The great end  
of education is to  
discipline rather 
than to furnish  

the mind;  
to train it to the 

use of its own 
powers, rather 

than fill it with the 
accumulation  

of others.
Tryon Edwards
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the Harvard Singapore Foundation and UniSIM. The Fund 
was set up to support and advance knowledge, skills and 
leadership in the “helping professions”, viz., counselling, 
gerontology, social work, community leadership and 
social development – areas fast emerging as primary 
concerns of a society that is undergoing tremendous 
change. It is hoped that with additional financial support, 
more would be encouraged to pursue these professions 
and help strengthen our nation’s social fabric and enable 
effective support to the disadvantaged, the needy and the 
distraught in our midst.

Recognition Of UniSIM Programmes
Accreditation and recognition of our programmes signal 
the industry’s confidence in UniSIM, and the quality and 
rigour of our offerings.

In May 2012, our Bachelor of Accountancy programme, 
offered through our School of Business, was accredited 
by the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority of 
Singapore (ACRA). With ACRA’s nod, graduates from this 
programme would satisfy the qualification requirements 
towards registration as a Public Accountant under the 
Accountants Act (Cap. 2). In November, this programme 
was also accredited for direct admission to the Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore (ICPAS), 
enabling graduates from 2013 onwards to become ICPAS 
Associates. In addition, the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants has granted exemptions to UniSIM’s 
Accountancy graduates for select courses leading to their 
professional examinations.

These moves come at a time when there is growing 
demand for accountants as Singapore aspires to become 
an accountancy hub for the Asia Pacific. Developed in 
collaboration with industry leaders, UniSIM’s Accountancy 
programme serves to enhance the supply of accountants 
by offering an alternative pathway for professionals who 
wish to embark on a mid-career switch.

During the year, our School of Science and Technology 
also received accreditation for three of its programmes 
following reviews by external boards, viz., the International 
Facilities Management Association for the Facilities and 
Events Management programme; Approved Southern 
Association of Colleges and Schools (USA) site at 
UniSIM for the Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University 
partnership programmes in Aviation Maintenance and 

on a systematic training benchmarked to international 
standards and with exposure to a combination of 
theory and real community issues, graduates from this 
programme will be equipped with the relevant knowledge 
and skills to build an inclusive and cohesive society.

The Bachelor of Building and Project Management 
programme – offered through our School of Science 
and Technology, in collaboration with the Building and 
Construction Authority, and the Construction Industry Joint 
Committee – was introduced to produce productivity-savvy 
project managers, in line with Singapore’s productivity 
push. Professional members from both bodies advise on 
the strategic plan and direction for the programme and 
also serve as course designers, instructors and assessors 
to ensure that the courses are current and relevant to  
the industry.

In a fast-moving global economy like Singapore’s, up-to-
date knowledge and skills are required to cope with ever-
changing challenges. UniSIM programmes are continually 
reviewed and updated to fully equip our students and 
graduates to contribute immediately and effectively to 
their organisations. As part of our ongoing review, we 
also revamped our current curricula to ensure continued 
relevance and rigour. For example, our School of Arts 
and Social Sciences revamped the assessment strategy 
and pedagogy of its Social Sciences core to focus more 
on the teaching of application skills using real-world 

Aviation Business Administration; and Singapore Institute 
of Surveyors and Valuers for the Building and Project 
Management programme.

These endorsements and strong support encourage us 
to aim higher and go further in our pursuit of creating 
excellence in lifelong education.

Investment In Technology
At UniSIM, we continuously explore innovative use of 
technology that allows us to deliver our programmes 
and services to reach our various stakeholders  
more effectively.

E-Learning is a signature mode of delivery for UniSIM as 
it embodies the flexibility in learning that best suits our 
students, most of whom are adult learners. The challenge 
in gearing up the development of e-Courses is to ensure 
that the quality of content remains uncompromised, and 
the learning experience is compelling and effective.

We have devoted considerable resources to designing 
e-Learning courses that will render the learning experience 
engaging and relevant, and for instructors to become 
proficient in the use of online tools to guide students 
and maximise learning. During the year, our number of 
e-Courses more than doubled, with our full- and part-time 
faculty equipped accordingly to conduct online lessons. 
We have also optimised our students’ scholastic resources 
with online tutorials and hands-on training sessions.

In July 2012, UniSIM Mobile was launched, allowing 
users of Android™ and Apple® iOS mobile devices to 
access UniSIM information, such as upcoming events, 
staff contact and programme details on the go. Designed 
with a user-friendly interface, UniSIM Mobile also allows 
users to search for articles and books in our libraries. With 
this application, UniSIM students, alumni, faculty, staff 
and members of the public can better connect to UniSIM 
anytime, anywhere.

In the coming year, UniSIM will continue with initiatives  
to improve learners’ experience and promote greater  
accessibility to digital content. This will include enhancing  
our offerings of e-Learning content with e-Textbooks and 
interactive study guides.

Mr Chan Chun Sing, Acting Minister  
for Social and Family Development  
(4th from left), together with Mr Anthony 
Teo, Co-founder and Director of the 
Harvard Singapore Foundation (first left); 
Professor Cheong Hee Kiat, President, 
UniSIM (first right), with the three 
inaugural recipients of the UniSIM  
Social Resilience Enhancement Fund 
study sponsorships.

Logistics officers from 
the Army Logistics 
Training Institute 
receiving their 
course certificates 
on completion 
of courses in the 
Logistics and Supply 
Chain Management 
programme under the 
CET track.

contexts while revving up the emphasis on student-centric 
discussions. The School also introduced new courses and 
minors to broaden the electives available to students and 
bolster their skill sets: new courses were presented in 
two Language and Literature degree programmes, and  
three new minor subjects were offered in the 
Communication programme.

Apart from undergraduate and graduate programmes, we 
have also added new Continuing Education and Training 
(CET) courses to our list of offerings to help support 
Singapore with a constant supply of qualified talent. This 
is especially important when learning is no longer an 
option in today’s fast-changing environment, particularly 
for a country or organisation where people are its only 
natural resource.

Delivered to executives and organisations in an even more 
flexible and relevant way, some of these courses target 
niche but important professions. In 2012, the School of 
Arts and Social Sciences introduced the Examination 
for Professional Interpreters in Malay/English while the 
School of Science and Technology sought to similarly 
boost professional competence and industrial recognition 
by conducting 10 CET courses on topics ranging from air 
transport management to human factors and ergonomics.

Plans are in the pipeline for new programmes and 
courses to be launched in the coming year. These 
include a graduate degree by research and a Certification 
Examination for Professional Translators in English/
Chinese, which we envisage will become the national 
benchmark for professional translators in Singapore.

UniSIM Endowment fund
As an institution with a clear social mission, UniSIM 
believes that through all that we do in providing education 
and continual training, we are giving back, directly or 
indirectly, to the community by investing in the people who 
will shape its future. We are motivated by the single belief 
that education and training is an enabler and a leveller, 
and that everyone, regardless of his background and 
aspiration, should be given an opportunity to develop to 
his fullest.

During the year, we launched our first endowment fund 
– the S$1 million Social Resilience Enhancement Fund, 
seeded by matching amounts of S$500,000 each from 
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Academic And Industry collaborations
As a university that was originally set up to help adult 
learners gain qualifications and advance their careers, 
it is essential that UniSIM keeps up with industry trends 
and equip our students and graduates with relevant skills 
that they can immediately apply at their workplace. This 
motivates us to foster strong ties with industry partners 
and collaborate with them on our programmes.

In February 2012, our Master of Science in Urban Transport 
Management programme received a lift when we signed 
a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with seven 
industrial leaders, viz., Accenture, AECOM, Motorola 
Solutions, NCS, Singapore Technologies Kinetics Ltd 
(ST Kinetics), ST Electronics Large-Scale Systems 
Group and ST Electronics Info-Comm Systems. Under 
the MOU, students will have the opportunity to embark 
on practical industrial attachments and be mentored by 
professionals to gain first-hand experience in the day- 
to-day management and operation of Singapore’s land 
transport systems.

Jonathan Foo
Academic Chair
Creative Media Academy

Building 
Bridges

Sharing enhances education. Through collaborations, UniSIM and partners tap on one another’s expertise to multiply 
knowledge. By working closely with the industry and other academic institutions, we leverage the strengths of all parties 
to deliver greatly enhanced value to our students and alumni.  

This Master programme, offered in collaboration with 
the Land Transport Authority (LTA), is the first of its kind 
in the region and the brainchild of Professor Cham Tao 
Soon, Chancellor and Chairman of UniSIM. In April, the 
programme came to the forefront again when Professor 
Cham was presented with the Transport Thought Leader 
Award by Minister for Transport, Mr Lui Tuck Yew at the 
Land Transport Excellence Awards 2012. This award 
honours Professor Cham, who is also Chairman of the 
LTA Academy Advisory Board, a board member of the LTA 
and a founding director of SMRT Corporation, for his two 
decades of experience and leadership in land transport.

In August 2012, UniSIM also sealed an agreement with 
the Creative Media Academy that will see both parties 
working  together to develop and deliver a suite of courses 
in broadcast engineering, and extending delivery of CET 
to the South East Asian region.

Another creative alliance took place in November 2012 
when UniSIM partnered the Science Centre Board to 
develop and promote exhibits, outreach programmes, 
public talks and other events to schools and visitors of 
the Science Centre. Through this collaboration, UniSIM 
will help to nurture the mathematical and scientific interest 
and talent of young minds in Singapore.

Representatives from the seven leading transportation companies who 
will be providing industrial attachments for UniSIM’s Master of Science 
in Urban Transport Management programme students.

I can do things  
you cannot, you can 

do things I cannot; 
together we can do 

great things.
Mother Teresa
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That same month, UniSIM signed an MOU with SPRING 
Singapore to promote the adoption of the latter’s Business 
Excellence framework which serves as an invaluable 
management instrument in the business world. This 
partnership aims to encourage a wider adoption of the 
framework among UniSIM students and graduates to 
improve organisational performance in Singapore. The 
agreement will allow for the establishment of thought 
leadership in business excellence via research, case 
studies, forums and seminars, as well as internships and 
participation in relevant assessments.

Applied Research 
At UniSIM, we actively promote research that is relevant 
to organisations as applied research augments our role 
as an industry expert and embeds us in the communities 
we serve.

Some of the applied research activities we undertake 
through our Centre for Applied Research include surveys 
on local issues such as the PA Social Capital Survey – a 

(From left) Professor Cheong Hee Kiat, President of UniSIM; Professor Cham Tao Soon, Chancellor and Chairman of UniSIM; and Mr Png Cheong Boon, Chief Executive 
of SPRING Singapore at the signing of a collaboration to promote business excellence.

large-scale study covering more than 35,000 randomly-
selected households across the island.

Other major surveys that we conducted during the year 
included the quarterly Business Times-UniSIM Business 
Climate Survey, now in its sixth year; the LTA Public 
Transport Customer Satisfaction Survey, currently in its 
fourth year; a new longitudinal study on the saving habits 
of low-income households in Singapore commissioned by 
the Central Singapore Community Development Council; 
and the World Values Survey – a survey that studies 
changing values and their social impact in Singapore. 

In addition, the School of Science and Technology was 
appointed as consultants by ST Kinetics for a multi-million  
dollar project on Gas Turbine Engine Fan Case Repair 
Using Cold Spray Technology, which receives external 
funding support under the Civil Aviation Authority of 
Singapore’s Aviation Innovation Programme.

In the coming year, we will continue to forge ties with 
key institutions, companies and government agencies to 
enhance UniSIM’s applied research profile.

(From left) Professor Cham Tao Soon, Chancellor and Chairman of 
UniSIM, receiving the Transport Thought Leader Award from Minister 
for Transport, Mr Lui Tuck Yew.

(From left) Associate Professor Lim Tit Meng, Chief Executive of the 
Science Centre Board; and Professor Cheong Hee Kiat, President 
of UniSIM, committing to jointly promote Science, Mathematics and 
Technology, with the signing of an MOU.
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To promote vibrancy on campus, UniSIM is proactive in organising and hosting activities which help foster closer 
connections among its faculty, students and industry professionals. These activities serve as useful platforms not just 
for the exchange and enrichment of knowledge and ideas but also for the building of valuable networks. Many of these 
events are also open to members of the public, enabling us to engage in different ways with the communities in which 
we operate. 

Activities And Events
We kick-started 2012 with the official establishment of the 
UniSIM Centre for Chinese Studies in January. A highly 
anticipated resource, the Centre builds on the strong 
foundation of UniSIM’s Chinese-related programmes 
to raise awareness and understanding of the Chinese 
language, culture and heritage among Singaporeans. It 
also serves as a central resource for UniSIM to monitor 
trends and developments in the Chinese-speaking 
world in order to maintain relevance in our programmes.  
In addition, the Centre serves as the focal point for the 
interaction with the public and for the establishment  
of strategic partnerships with relevant local and 
international organisations and institutions on all Chinese-
related matters.

In April 2012, the Centre, together with the School 
of Arts and Social Sciences and Lianhe Zaobao, 
organised the Bridging Two Worlds: Bilingualism and 
Translation in Singapore public forum. This event, 
graced by Ms Sim Ann, Senior Parliamentary Secretary 
for Education and Law, raised public awareness of 

engaging 
CoMMunities

ProFeSSor Chou Siaw Kiang
President
The Institution of Engineers, Singapore

the standard of translation and status of translators  
in Singapore.

Another forum by the Centre was the 2012 UniSIM 
Contemporary China Public Lecture: Chinese Cinema 
in the 21st Century in October. Jointly organised with 
Lianhe Zaobao, Business China, and sponsored by Lee 
Foundation, this second run of the forum saw some 400 
attendees benefitting from the sharing by Beijing Film 
Academy’s Professor Xie Fei – one of China’s most 
influential “fourth generation” directors – and Taipei 
National University’s Professor Peggy Chiao, who is 
a reputed prime mover of the Taiwan New Cinema 
movement in the 1980s.

Panellists of the ‘Bridging Two Worlds: Bilingualism and Translation in 
Singapore’ public forum (from left): Ms Susan Xu, Head of UniSIM’s 
Translation and Interpretation programme; Mr Peter Ong, Assistant 
Editor of Lianhe Zaobao; Mr Ung Gim Sei, Partner of RHTLaw Taylor 
Wessing; Mr Tan Dan Feng, Executive Director of Interlexis Pte Ltd; 
with moderator Professor Eddie Kuo, Academic Advisor of UniSIM and 
Director of the UniSIM Centre for Chinese Studies.

Great men are 
rarely isolated 

mountain peaks; 
they are the  

summits of ranges.
Thomas Wentworth Higginson
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In October, UniSIM also co-organised the 8th International 
Conference on Intelligent Unmanned Systems with The 
Institution of Engineers, Singapore and the International 
Society of Intelligent Unmanned Systems. This event, 
held for the first time in Singapore and at UniSIM, brought 
together 160 delegates from more than 20 countries 
to share on areas of research in unmanned intelligent 
systems. An exhibition and ceremony to mark National 
Engineers Day 2012 in Singapore was held concurrently 
with the event.

On another front, UniSIM and the Singapore Logistics 
Association co-organised the inaugural Supply Chain 
Challenge in July 2012. This national-level case 
competition, opened to polytechnic students, serves to 
introduce them to the field of supply chain management 
in industries.

We also organised a conference entitled Ageless in 
Singapore: Towards an Age-friendly World in September. 
This event saw more than 300 attendees gaining from 
speakers who spoke on the challenges of creating an 
age-friendly environment, caring for elders, as well as 
providing solutions to increase mobility.

(From left) Professor Xie Fei from the Beijing Film Academy;  
Mr Kenneth Tan, Chair of the Singapore Film Society; and Professor 
Peggy Chiao from the Taipei National University of the Arts, at the 
‘2012 UniSIM Contemporary China Public Lecture: Chinese Cinema  
in the 21st Century’ forum.

Students from the Communication programme visiting Newsplex Asia 
to learn about the latest communication technology and trends in 
newsroom settings.

Dr Brett Piekarski from the US Army Research Laboratory, USA, 
delivering his keynote speech on ‘Micro Autonomous Systems 
and Technology’ at the ‘8th International Conference on Intelligent 
Unmanned Systems’.

Guest speakers at the ‘Active Citizenship: For a Better Community, 
For a Better World’ forum (from left): Dr Alison Eyring, Chief Executive 
Officer of Organisation Solutions, Singapore; Mr Kenny Low, Founder 
of City College and O School; moderator Professor Aline Wong, 
Academic Advisor of UniSIM; Mr Thomas Thomas, Executive Director 
of the Singapore Compact for Corporate Social Responsibility; Dr Hui 
Yew-Foong, Anthropologist and Fellow of the Institute of Southeast 
Asian Studies; and Mr Felix Soh, Digital Media Editor at Singapore 
Press Holdings Ltd and Consulting Editor of My Paper.

Study Trip And Visits
One of the calendar highlights of the year was the study trip  
by the Master of Gerontology programme students to Hong 
Kong in March 2012. This trip provided an opportunity for 
students to learn first-hand the policies, programmes and 
services of another fast-ageing Asian country which faces 
similar challenges as Singapore does. These students 
visited service providers for the aged, tertiary institutions 
that are leaders in gerontology research, as well as a 
research centre which focuses on assistive technology for 
the elderly. Throughout the trip, students participated in 
dialogue sessions with their counterparts in Hong Kong 
universities, resulting in fruitful learning and the forging of 
close friendships.

During the year, we also hosted several visits by our 
partners and industry experts. In October 2012, we 
welcomed two award-winning American writers: Ms 
Shirley Geok-lin Lim, Professor of English at the University 
of California, Santa Barbara, and Professor Jeffery Allen, 
from Queens College of the City University of New York 
and The New School for Social Research. Our students, 
alumni and staff were treated to personal readings of the 
writers’ works, and enjoyed a lively discussion with them.
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Meanwhile, students from the Bachelor of Science in 
Information Technology and Business emerged second 
runner-up in the Singapore Land Authority Spatial 
Challenge 2012, which featured the use of Geographic 
Information Systems technologies. The UniSIM team 
impressed the judges with their winning application which 
allows grassroots organisations to view the statistics 
of participants, thus enabling them to better plan and 
organise activities for these participants.

Student Achievements And Interactions
UniSIM students continued to make their mark with their 
many achievements in their respective areas of study. 

In October, Psychology student Lim Aik Meng clinched 
the Student Research Award for the Best Experimental 
Research from the Singapore Psychological Society for  
his Honours thesis on the effects of bilateral eye 
movement and visual versus aural presentation mode 
on memory.  He also received the UniSIM Gold Award at  
Convocation 2012.

Our students stood their own also in national 
competitions such as the Singapore Amazing Flying 
Machine Competition 2012. Five Aerospace Systems 
undergraduates took home the Gold Award in the Theory 
of Flight category and a Silver Award for the Best Video in 
the competition held at the Science Centre.

Lim aiK meng
Bachelor of Science  
in Psychology alumnus

Seah ee Sien
Bachelor of Science  
in Business alumna

noriman aLi SaLam
Master of Community Leadership  
and Social Development student

Our rapidly growing body of students and alumni form the backbone of the UniSIM community. The diversified expertise 
and experience of this body presents a rich amalgamation of minds that can be tapped to further inform and impact 
communities. To facilitate the connection of minds, we have in place a range of activities throughout the year to engage 
them. In turn, our students and alumni have done us proud with their achievements in their respective fields of influence.

ConneCting 
Minds

Students from the 
Bachelor of Engineering 
in Aerospace Systems 
programme with their 
award-winning tricopter 
showcased at the 
‘Singapore Amazing 
Flying Machine 
Competition 2012’.

(From left) Guest of honour at the ‘Singapore Land Authority Spatial 
Challenge 2012’, Ms Sim Ann, Senior Parliamentary Secretary for 
Education and Law, with the second runner-up team comprising 
students from UniSIM’s Bachelor of Science in Information 
Technology and Business programme and Ms Jennifer Huang, Senior 
Lecturer at the School of Science and Technology and their Capstone 
Project supervisor.

The greatest good you 
can do for another is 
not just to share your 
riches but to reveal to 

him his own.
Benjamin Disraeli
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Alumni Relations
Our fast-growing 19,000-strong alumni are an integral 
part of the UniSIM family, valued, among other things, 
as the conduit between current students and industry. 
We welcomed our newest members to the alumni with 
a Graduates’ Night held at The Gig @ St James Power 
Station in October. Many came sportingly dressed to the 
theme Back in Time, decked out in the fashion of the 50’s 
and 60’s.

Other events organised to engage our alumni included 
movie outings, an overseas trip, health screening and 
talks, learning trips and get-together dinners.

Our alumni also contributed to society in novel ways 
that leverage their expertise. A group of Translation and 
Interpretation programme alumni, for instance, worked 
together to translate the book Chinese Auspicious Culture 
from Chinese to English, which was published by Foreign 
Languages Press – the leading publisher in China, and 
Asiapac Books in Singapore.

To enhance student experience beyond academic 
pursuits, we provide opportunities for students to go on 
overseas exposure trips to emerging economies, viz., 
India, East and South East Asia. Facilitated through the 
newly-introduced Emerging Asia Exposure Scheme made 
possible through the Dorothy Cheung Memorial Fund, 
these trips enable our students to gain valuable insights 
into the culture, religious and business practices of other 
countries. During the year in review, UniSIM also lined up 
a number of social activities including a wine appreciation 
and talent search events, all of which received positive 
feedback from our students.

In August, Singapore Prime Minister Lee Hsien Loong 
made his maiden visit to UniSIM to learn more about 
the University. Accompanied by a Ministry of Education 
(MOE) delegation led by then Senior Minister of State 
Mr Lawrence Wong, the delegation met with UniSIM 
management staff, students and alumni. They also had 
the opportunity to view works by UniSIM students and 
alumni, and participated in a lively dialogue session with 
them. Prime Minister Lee commented that the visit was 
an eye-opener for him and he left impressed with UniSIM, 
and with our students and alumni. Soon after, Prime 
Minister Lee announced during the National Day Rally 
that UniSIM will be participating in the Government’s plan  
to increase the number of publicly-funded full-time  
university places.

Prime Minister Lee Hsien Loong and then Senior Minister of State Mr Lawrence Wong interacting with students and alumni during a dialogue session moderated  
by UniSIM Provost, Professor Tsui Kai Chong.

In the coming year, we will be embarking on an 
Employers’ Perception Survey to assess the standing 
and performance of UniSIM graduates in the industry. 
We are also considering a discount scheme, among 
other exclusive benefits, to be extended to our alumni 
when they undertake UniSIM courses. This is to 
encourage them to embrace continuing education and 
lifelong learning as crucial in helping them upgrade 
knowledge and skills to advance their career and enrich  
their lives.

Alumni members and students, together with their families, waiting 
to board Imperial Cheng Ho – a replica of the famous Ming Dynasty 
vessel – on an outing to celebrate National Day 2012.

Alumni members showing that they not only study hard but also party 
hard at Graduates’ Night 2012.
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Quality Assessment
In September 2012, we underwent a university-wide 
audit covering governance and leadership, management 
and strategic planning, and teaching and learning by 
the MOE as part of the Quality Assurance Framework 
for Universities. A preliminary outcome was that all  
the areas assessed fulfilled high academic rigour and 
quality standards.

We also initiated an external faculty-centred peer review 
process in 2012 as part of efforts to benchmark our 
e-Courses against best practices. The course Cross-
Cultural Intelligence became the first UniSIM course to be 
certified under the US-based Quality Matters Program.

QueK Kiat Sing
Associate, School of Human Development and Social Services

DanieL Soh tat Yong
Associate, School of Business

Quality is of paramount importance to us as it is the foundation on which UniSIM’s reputation is built. Whether it is our 
internal systems and processes, our curricula, or our teaching and learning methodologies, we continuously strive to 
uphold exemplary standards of quality across the board.

raising 
standards

Review Board And Academic committees
Our programmes are supervised by an Academic Board 
which oversees programme curriculum, pedagogy, 
partnerships and presentations, examinations and 
assessments, as well as student admission.  In addition, 
we have Programme Advisory Committees which serve 
as channels for industry feedback and guidance. Each 
committee typically comprises academic and industry 
leaders relevant to the programme’s discipline and meets 
regularly to share expertise and provide advice on the 
strategic plan and direction of the programme.

In June 2012, we formed the Institutional Review Board 
in compliance with internationally-established standards 
of ethics review. Seeking to promote an ethical and 
responsible climate for research at UniSIM, this Board 
has conducted training sessions to help faculty members 
gain a better understanding of the processes.

Teaching Support
One of the keys to ensuring quality education is to uphold 
the robustness of teaching. As such, equipping faculty 
and teaching associates with the skills to fulfil their roles 
effectively is accorded top priority at UniSIM.  

During the year, we worked proactively with our faculty  
to identify areas of support they needed, such as 
presentation skills, classroom management and student 
engagement. This was followed up with a series of 
teaching support initiatives, including workshops, class 
observations and customised interventions, as well as the 
sharing of teaching strategies and tools.

Nothing great will ever 
be achieved without 

great men, and men are 
great only if they are 

determined to be so.
Charles de Gaulle
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Associate training went full steam ahead with a 
comprehensive range of activities from development 
and facilitations to tracking and certification. A total of 
13 pedagogy-driven events were conducted, with very 
positive feedback from associates. An Associate Faculty 
Champion Scheme was also established to encourage 
associates to initiate and study the impact of innovative 
teaching practices in their courses, to reflect on what 
worked and why, and to share those best practices with 
other faculty. In addition, we continued to recognise our 
associates’ teaching achievements through the Teaching 
Excellence and Merit Awards.

To enable faculty and students to fully benefit from online 
teaching and learning, extensive training is provided to 
train over 200 teaching associates to be effective online 
instructors. Hands-on workshops, talks and walk-in clinic 
sessions on various e-Tools were organised in addition to 
making online tutorials and step-by-step guides available 
to both students and faculty.

Learning Support
With a clear understanding that effective teaching and 
learning go hand-in-hand, we concomitantly increased 
support for students’ learning needs. A series of learning 
support initiatives were launched to help students acquire 
effective study skills and be self-directed learners. A 
knowledge bank on the Student Portal was started 
to provide key information for students. Through this, 
students can access frequently-asked-questions relating 
to their learning journey at UniSIM.

In addition, a new English Support Programme was set 
up to enhance students’ competencies in writing and 
communication. As part of the programme, an English 
assessment test was designed to help students identify 
their weaknesses and strengths in three core skills, 
viz., reading, listening and writing. Appropriate support 
measures, including customised interventions, will be 
extended to help the students in the coming year.

In 2013, we will make more concerted efforts to further 
define and shape the online pedagogy relevant for 
e-Learning at UniSIM. The intersections between course 
content, learning interactions and assessments delivered 
via online and face-to-face modes will be constantly 
reviewed to ensure the best possible learning experience 
for our students.

Professor Cheong Hee Kiat, UniSIM President (7th from left), with the recipients of the 2012 Teaching Excellence and Merit Awards.

Guest speakers 
Professor John 
Boyer and Ms Katie 
Pritchard of Virginia 
Tech sharing with 
faculty and associates 
techniques on 
engaging students  
at the Faculty  
Learning Day.

Associate Professor  
Wong Yue Kee, Vice 
President of Learning 
Services at UniSIM, 
sharing with instructors 
on the use of journals 
as an effective  
way to manage 
student feedback.

Ms Khoo Sim Eng, 
Lecturer from the 
School of Arts and 
Social Sciences, 
sharing with faculty 
and associates on  
how blogs can be  
used as an effective 
teaching tool.
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chancellor and chairman
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PROfESSOR BERNARD TAN
Professor of Physics
National University of Singapore

PROfESSOR chONG chI TAT
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The purpose of the SIM University Education Fund (SUEF) is to establish, build up, maintain and promote the  
capability of UniSIM for the advancement of university education. The Fund receives tax-deductible donations for its 
activities and shall be used in areas including the development of UniSIM’s infrastructure, systems and courses, library 
development and administration, research and development activities, scholarly activities, scholarships, sponsorships 
and study awards.

Among the projects and activities that have been funded by SUEF are the development and implementation of UniSIM’s 
student information management system and learning management system, teaching and learning and research 
activities, course development for programmes and conversion of courses to e-form.

The SUEF Board of Trustees oversees the management of all tax-deductible donations to UniSIM. The Board of 
Trustees also establishes the guiding principles for the management and utilisation of the Fund, and maintains separate 
accounting records for disbursements from SUEF, as well as for donations received. Members of the SUEF Board of 
Trustees are:

UniSIM is governed by a Board of Trustees. The UniSIM Board of Trustees oversees the corporate governance, policies 
and strategies of the University, including making key appointments and establishing new schools or departments. It 
ensures that UniSIM acts to further its objectives in education and research, and that its funds and assets are safeguarded 
and properly accounted for.
 
As part of good corporate governance, UniSIM has in place a Conflict of Interest Policy and Whistle Blowing Policy. 
Under the Conflict of Interest Policy, any UniSIM Board of Trustees member or staff must declare their personal or 
vested interests in business transactions that the University enters into. They are also required to abstain from any 
discussion or decision-making on the matter.
 
The Whistle Blowing Policy extends the notion of corporate governance to all staff, allowing them to take responsibility 
for helping UniSIM achieve a greater level of public confidence in its corporate governance.

siM uniVersity  
eduCation fund

Corporate 
goVernanCe
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report of  
the trustees

The Board of Trustees presents its report together with the audited financial statements of SIM University (“UniSIM”) for the year ended  
December 31, 2012.

1 TRUSTEES
 
 The Trustees of UniSIM in office at the date of this report are:

 Professor Cham Tao Soon (Chairman)
 Professor Cheong Hee Kiat (Ex-Officio)
 Professor Chong Chi Tat
 Mr Richard Eu Yee Ming
 Mr Lee Kwok Cheong
 Mr Ong Boon Hwee
 Mr Ronald Tan Hee Huan
 Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
 Mr Ronnie Tay
 Mr Leo Tan Wee Hin
 Mr Seah Moon Ming
 Mr Wong Hong Kuan
 Mr William Lim

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE TRUSTEES TO AcQUIRE BENEfITS
 BY MEANS Of ThE AcQUISITION Of ShARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose object 
is to enable the Trustees of UniSIM to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures in any other body 
corporate.

3 TRUSTEES’ INTERESTS IN ShARES AND DEBENTURES
 
As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(6)(g) and Section 201(6A)(h) of 
the Companies Act, Cap 50.

4 TRUSTEES’ REcEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO cONTRAcTUAL BENEfITS

Since the beginning of the financial year, no Trustees has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is required 
to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by UniSIM or a related 
corporation with the Trustee or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which he has a substantial financial 
interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in the financial statements. Certain Trustees received 
remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors and/or executives of those related corporations.

sim university financial report
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5 OPTIONS TO TAkE UP UNISSUED ShARES

As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(11)(b) and Section 201(12) of the 
Companies Act, Cap 50.

6 OPTIONS EXERcISED

As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(11) and Section 201(12) of the 
Companies Act, Cap 50.

7 UNISSUED ShARES UNDER OPTION

As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(11) and Section 201(12) of the Companies Act,  
Cap 50.

8 AUDITORS
 
 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES

Professor Cham Tao Soon

Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

Date: 25 March 2013

In the opinion of the Trustees, the financial statements as set out on pages 43 to 70 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of SIM University as at December 31, 2012, and of the results, changes in funds and reserves and cash flows 
of SIM University for the financial year ended December 31, 2012 and at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to 
believe that SIM University will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES

Professor Cham Tao Soon

Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

Date: 25 March 2013

stateMent  
By trustees

report of  
the trustees
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Report on the financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SIM University which comprise the statement of financial position as 
at December 31, 2012, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and reserves and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 
43 to 70.

Management’s Responsibility for the financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions 
of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”), the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”) and Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised 
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss account and balance sheet and to 
maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to SIM University’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of SIM University’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of SIM University are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act, the 
Charities Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of SIM University 
as at December 31, 2012 and of the results, changes in funds and reserves and cash flows of SIM University for the year ended on 
that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by SIM University have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the year:

(a) The use of the donation moneys was not in accordance with the objectives of SIM University as required under regulation 16 
of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and

(b) SIM University has not complied with the requirements of regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the Charities (Institutions 
of a Public Character) Regulations.

Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
Date: 25 March 2013

Note 2012 2011
$’000 $’000

ASSETS
current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 119,563 89,886
Sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments 8 9,960 10,284
Held-to-maturity financial assets 9  12,023  29,339
Available-for-sale investments 11  12,840  -  
Total current assets 153,386 129,509

Non-current assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets 9 14,696 16,813
Plant and equipment 10 6,633 9,285
Available-for-sale investments 11  28,772  19,329
Total non-current assets  50,101  45,427

Total assets 204,487 174,936

LIABILITIES, fUNDS AND RESERVES
current liabilities
Course fees received in advance 6,416 5,457
Government grants received in advance 12 400 463
Other payables 13  17,160  15,534
Total current liabilities  23,976  21,454

funds and reserves
General fund:
 Accumulated surplus 84,671 63,293
 Fair value reserve 15  21  -  

 84,692 63,293
Education fund:
 Accumulated surplus 93,171 89,073
 Fair value reserve 15  2,477  944

14  95,648 90,017
Other restricted funds 16  171  172
Total funds and reserves 180,511 153,482

Total liabilities, funds and reserves 204,487 174,936

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Note

  
 General 
 fund  

  
 Education 
 fund  

 Other
 restricted
  funds  

  
 
 Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012
Operating income 17 84,912 289  - 85,201
Course expenditure (27,131) (2,044) (1) (29,176)
Staff and manpower costs 18 (24,712) (5,015)  - (29,727)
Depreciation expense 10 (875) (4,335)  - (5,210)
Other operating expenditure 19 (12,362) (3,647)  - (16,009)
Non-operating expenditure 20  (20) (366)  - (386)
Non-operating income 21  1,566 19,216  1 20,783

Net surplus for the year 21,378 4,098  - 25,476

Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale investments 15  21 1,533  - 1,554
Funds utilised - Net  -  -  (1)  (1)

Total comprehensive income for the year 21,399  5,631  (1) 27,029

2011
Operating income 17  79,399 218  - 79,617
Course expenditure (23,668) (2,721) (1) (26,390)
Staff and manpower costs 18 (22,950) (3,484)  - (26,434)
Depreciation expense 10 (1,013) (4,322)  - (5,335)
Other operating expenditure 19 (12,526) (2,455)  - (14,981)
Non-operating expenditure 20  - (302)  - (302)
Non-operating income 21  1,091 15,385  1 16,477

Net surplus for the year 20,333 2,319  - 22,652

Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale investments 15  - (921)  - (921)
Funds utilised - Net  -  -  (1)  (1)

Total comprehensive income for the year 20,333  1,398  (1) 21,730

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

 <----------------General fund---------------->  <---------------Education fund------------->

 Accumulated
 surplus

 fair
 value
  reserve   Total  

 Accumulated
 surplus

 fair
 value
  reserve    Total  

 Other
 restricted
  funds   Total

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Balance at  
January 1, 2011 42,960  -  42,960 86,754  1,865 88,619  173 131,752

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the year 20,333  -  20,333  2,319  (921)  1,398  (1)  21,730

Balance at 
December 31, 2011 63,293  -  63,293 89,073  944 90,017  172 153,482

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the year 21,378  21 21,399  4,098  1,533  5,631  (1)  27,029

Balance at 
December 31, 2012 84,671  21 84,692 93,171  2,477 95,648  171 180,511

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

stateMent of Changes  
in funds and reserVes 
Year ended December 31, 2012
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Note 2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
 Net surplus for the year 25,476 22,652
 Adjustments for:
  Depreciation 5,210 5,335
  Interest income (1,818) (1,534)
  Grant income – Government grants (117) (174)
  Other restricted funds utilised (1) (1)
  Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (75)  -
  Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments  - 61
  Loss on disposal of held-to-maturity financial assets 222 78
  Amortisation of held-to-maturity financial assets premium 164  -
  Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts (34) 109
  Change in fair value of fair value through profit or loss investments  - 28
  Dividend income on available-for-sale investments (480) (101)
  Management fees expense on available-for-sale investments  146  131
 Surplus before movements in working capital 28,693 26,584

  Sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments 352 (2,115)
  Course fees received in advance 959 458
  Other payables  1,650  (1,004)
 Cash generated from operations 31,654 23,923

 Interest received  1,800  1,286
Net cash from operating activities  33,454 25,209

Investing activities
 Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 75  -
 Purchase of plant and equipment (2,558) (2,748)
 Dividends received from available-for-sale investments 411  -
 Purchase of available-for–sale investments (20,806) (6,200)
 Proceeds on matured held-to-maturity financial assets 38,198 31,038
 Purchase of held-to-maturity financial assets (19,151) (49,463)
 Proceeds on matured available-for-sale investments  - 9,757
 Proceeds on fair value through profit or loss investments  -  2,000
Net cash used in investing activities  (3,831) (15,616)

financing activity
 Grants received from the government representing,
  net cash from financing activity  54  330

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 29,677 9,923
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  89,886 79,963
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 119,563 89,886

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

1 GENERAL
 
 UniSIM (UEN 200504979Z) is incorporated in Singapore as a company limited by guarantee with its principal place of business 

and registered office at 461 Clementi Road, Singapore 599491. It is also subject to the provisions of the Charities Act, Chapter 
37. The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

 The principal activities of UniSIM are those relating to the advancement of education and dissemination of knowledge, the 
promotion of research and the conferring and awarding of degrees, diplomas and certificates.

 The financial statements of UniSIM for the year ended December 31, 2012 were authorised for issue by the Board of Trustees on  
25 March 2013.

2 SUMMARY Of SIGNIfIcANT AccOUNTING POLIcIES

 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, except 
for the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions 
of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 ADOPTION OF REVISED FINANCIAL STANDARDS - On January 1, 2012, UniSIM has adopted all the new and revised FRSs 
and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations. The adoption of 
these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to UniSIM’s accounting policies and has no material effect 
on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs that are relevant to UniSIM were issued but not 
effective:

 • Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments relating to Presentation of Items of Other  
 Comprehensive Income

 • FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

 Amendments to fRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendments relating to Presentation of Items of 
Other Comprehensive Income

 The amendments on Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) presentation will require UniSIM to present in separate groupings, 
OCI items that might be recycled i.e. reclassified to profit or loss (e.g. foreign currency translation) and those items that would 
not be recycled. The tax effects recognised for the OCI items would also be captured in the respective grouping, although 
there is a choice to present OCI items before tax or net of tax.

 Changes arising from these amendments to FRS 1 will take effect from annual period beginning on or after 1 July 2012, with 
full retrospective application.

 fRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

 FRS 113 is a single new Standard that applies to both financial and non-financial items. It replaces the guidance on fair value 
measurement and related disclosures in other Standards, with the exception of measurement dealt with under FRS 102 
Share-based Payment, FRS 17 Leases, net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories and value-in-use in FRS 36 Impairment  
of Assets.
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 FRS 113 provides a common fair value definition and hierarchy applicable to the fair value measurement of assets, liabilities, 
and an entity’s own equity instruments within its scope, but does not change the requirements in other Standards regarding 
which items should be measured or disclosed at fair value.

 FRS 113 will be effective prospectively from annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Comparative information is 
not required for periods before initial application.

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, management has considered and anticipated that the adoption of the 
FRSs and INT FRSs in future years will not have a material impact on the financial statements of UniSIM in the year of their 
initial adoption.

 
 GENERAL FUND - Income and expenditure are generally accounted for under the General Fund in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income.

 
 EDUCATION FUND - The SIM University Education Fund (“Education Fund”) is conferred the Institution of a Public Character 

status. Accordingly, all donations made to the Education Fund will be tax deductible for the donors.

 The income and expenditure relating to the Education Fund are accounted for under the Education Fund in the Statement of  
 Comprehensive Income.

 OTHER RESTRICTED FUNDS - Sponsorship-Awards fund and other funds comprising donations and sponsorships, which 
are kept intact as capital, are directly taken to the fund in the year in which such donations and sponsorships are received 
for the purpose of awarding of scholarships, medals, prizes to deserving students, developing standards in e-learning and 
development of program lectures and research for project proof of concept.

 Comprehensive Income arising from the management of the fund is taken directly to Sponsorship-Awards fund account 
and other funds account. Income designated to fund specific activities or programmes will be transferred from the fund to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match the designated expenditure. Any shortfall of income from the fund for a 
particular year will be taken directly to profit or loss.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on UniSIM’s statement of financial 
position when UniSIM becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 financial assets

 All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract  
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss 
which are initially measured at fair value.

 Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”, 
“held-to-maturity”, “available-for-sale” financial assets and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature 
and purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

	 Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVTPL)

 Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

 A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

 • it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

 • it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that UniSIM manages together and has a recent actual  
  pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

 • it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

 A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

 • such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise  
  arise; or

 • the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its  
  performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with UniSIM’s documented risk management or  
  investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

 • it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39 (Financial Instruments: Recognition  
  and Measurement) permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset. Fair 
value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

 Held-to-maturity investments

 Bonds with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where UniSIM has a positive intent and ability to hold to 
maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

 Available-for-sale	financial	assets

 Certain investments held by UniSIM are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value is 
determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and 
foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in profit or loss.  Where the investment is 
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments 
are recognised in profit or loss when UniSIM’s right to receive payments is established. The fair value of available-for-sale 
monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at 
end of the reporting date. The change in fair value attributable to translation differences that result from a change in amortised 
cost of the asset is recognised in profit or loss, and other changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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 Effective interest method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating interest 
income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, 
a shorter period. Income and expense are recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

 Sundry debtors

 Sundry debtors that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as “loans 
and receivables”. Sundry debtors are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-
term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 Impairment	of	financial	assets

 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired 
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have been impacted.

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception 
of sundry debtors where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a sundry debtor 
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit  
or loss.

 With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss, to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at 
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised.

 In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss, is recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income.

	 Derecognition	of	financial	assets

 UniSIM derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If UniSIM neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, UniSIM 
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If UniSIM retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, UniSIM continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

 financial liabilities

	 Other	financial	liabilities

 Other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

	 Derecognition	of	financial	liabilities

 UniSIM derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, UniSIM’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

 Derivative	financial	instruments

 UniSIM uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign currency exchange contracts to manage its exposure to 
foreign exchange rate risk.

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured 
to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately 
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in 
income and expenditure statements depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.  UniSIM designates certain derivatives 
as hedges of fair value of recognised assets or liabilities.

 A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more 
than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current 
assets or current liabilities.

 Embedded derivatives

 Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their 
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

 An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the hybrid 
instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled 
within 12 months. Other embedded derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

 LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease 
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they 
are incurred.
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 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Artifacts and painting included in office equipment, furniture and fittings are not depreciated.

 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the  
following bases:

 Renovations   - 25%
 Office equipment, furniture and fittings (excluding artifacts and paintings) - 25%
 Computers   - 33.33%
 Motor vehicles  - 20%

 Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

 The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, UniSIM reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, UniSIM estimates the recoverable amount of the cash- 
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when UniSIM has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that UniSIM will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 
cash flows.

 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

 
 GOVERNMENT GRANTS - These represent contributions made by the government for UniSIM. Government grants received 

for the purchase of plant and equipment or to meet operating expenses are taken to the government grants received in 
advance account. Grants for the purpose of plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
over the periods necessary to match the depreciation of the assets purchased with the related grants. Government grants to 
meet operating expenses are recognised as income in the same year the expenses are incurred.

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

 Course fees are recognised over the duration of the programmes.

 Diploma license fees are recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the agreement.

 Non-endowed donations are recognised in the financial year they are received.

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as 
they fall due.  Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, 
are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where UniSIM’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those 
arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

 EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. 
A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of 
the reporting period.

 DONATIONS - Donations given are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The financial statements of UniSIM are presented in the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).

 In preparing the financial statements of UniSIM, transactions in currencies other than UniSIM’s functional currency are 
recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date where 
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included in 
profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are 
included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect 
of which gains and losses are recognised directly in the other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any 
exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank and fixed deposits which 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3 cRITIcAL AccOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND kEY SOURcES Of ESTIMATION UNcERTAINTY

 In the application of UniSIM’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 (i) critical judgements in applying UniSIM’s accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements except as follows:

  Classification of held-to-maturity investments

UniSIM follows the guidance of FRS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payment 
and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, 
UniSIM evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If UniSIM fails to hold these investments 
to maturity other than for the specific circumstances, for example, selling an insignificant amount close to maturity, it 
will be required to reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale. The investment would therefore be measured at fair 
value and no longer at amortised cost.

 (ii) key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are as discussed below:

	 	 Fair	value	of	financial	instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. 
These techniques involve uncertainties and require assumptions and judgements regarding prepayments, credit 
risks and discount rates. Changes in these assumptions will significantly affect the estimated value of the financial 
instruments. UniSIM uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing 
on end of the reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are some of the common 
techniques used to calculate the fair value of these instruments. The carrying amounts of these financial instruments 
are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11 respectively.

  Useful lives of plant and equipment

Management exercises their judgement in estimating the useful lives of plant and equipment and reviews the useful 
lives at the end of each annual reporting period. The total carrying amount of plant and equipment is $6,633,000  
(2011 : $9,285,000).

4 fINANcIAL INSTRUMENTS, fINANcIAL RISkS AND cAPITAL RISk MANAGEMENT

 (a) Categories of financial instruments

  The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 119,563 89,886
Loans and receivables 7,758 7,461
Forward foreign exchange contracts 10  - 
Held-to-maturity investments 26,719 46,152
Available-for-sale financial assets  41,612 19,329

   
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

financial liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts  - 24
Other payables 17,160 15,510

 (b) financial risk management policies and objectives

Financial risk management policies and objectives are managed at the Singapore Institute of Management Group 
(“SIM Group”) level. The financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of the 
financial performance of the company and its subsidiaries.

SIM Group has documented financial risk management policies. These policies set out SIM Group’s overall business 
strategies and its risk management philosophy. SIM Group’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects of financial performance of SIM Group and its subsidiaries. The Governing Council 
of SIM provides written principles for overall financial risk management and written policies covering specific areas, 
such as market risk (included foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and equity price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, 
cash flow interest rate risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing excess cash. Such written policies are 
reviewed annually by the Governing Council and periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure that SIM Group’s policy 
guidelines are complied with. Risk Management is carried out by Treasury Department under the policies approved by 
the Governing Council.

UniSIM’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of financial 
performance of UniSIM.

There has been no significant change to UniSIM’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.
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	 	 (i)	 	 Foreign	exchange	risk	management

UniSIM’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movements of the Sterling pound and 
United States dollar against the Singapore dollar.

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than UniSIM’s functional currency are as follows:

  
 Assets  Liabilities

2012 2011 2012 2011
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

United States dollar 10,910 10,473 180  12
Sterling pound   -   -  37   -

Entities in the SIM group use forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign currency 
risk in the local reporting currency. The Treasury Department is responsible for hedging the net position in each 
borrowing currency.

    Foreign currency sensitivity

The sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk is 10%, which is the change in foreign exchange 
rate that the trustees deem reasonably possible which will affect outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items at period end.

If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of UniSIM without  
considering the effect of the derivative financial instruments, which is Singapore dollar, profit or loss will increase 
(decrease) by:

 United States dollar impact  Sterling pound impact
2012 2011 2012 2011

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit or loss  (1,073)  (1,046)  4   -

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of UniSIM, there would be 
an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss.

	 	 (ii)		 Interest	rate	risk	management

UniSIM is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing assets. UniSIM 
maintains its cash and cash equivalents and held-to-maturity financial assets in fixed rate instruments and does 
not have any significant interest-bearing liabilities.

All financial assets and liabilities at year end bear no interest rate except for cash, fixed deposits and held-to-
maturity financial assets. The average interest rate on held-to-maturity financial asset is disclosed in Note 9.

    Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for cash and cash 
equivalent balances at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning 
of the financial year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the 
possible change in interest rate.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, UniSIM’s net 
surplus would increase/decrease by approximately $1.2 million (2011 : $0.9 million).

	 	 (iii)		 Credit	risk	management

UniSIM is not exposed to significant credit risk as most of its fees are received in advance. As at December 
31, 2012 and 2011, UniSIM’s sundry debtors comprise mainly grant receivable from the Ministry of Education.

Cash, fixed deposits, available-for-sale investments and held-to-maturity investments are held with reputable 
financial institutions.

	 	 (iv)		 Liquidity	risk	management

UniSIM maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance its 
activities.

    Non-derivative	financial	assets

The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. The tables below have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be 
earned on those assets except where UniSIM anticipate that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

 fixed rate  Non-interest bearing

 Less than
 6 months

 6 months
 to
 12 months

 More
 than
 12 months

 On  
 demand
 or within
  1 year  

 More
 than
 1 year  Total

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

2012
Cash and cash equivalents  119,560  -  -  3  -  119,563
Loans and receivables  -  -  -  7,758  -  7,758
Available-for-sale investments  -  -  -  12,840  28,772  41,612
Held-to-maturity financial assets  10,008   2,015  14,696  -  -  26,719
Total  129,568   2,015  14,696  20,601  28,772  195,652

2011
Cash and cash equivalents  76,941  12,942  -  3  -  89,886
Loans and receivables  -  -  -  7,461  -  7,461
Available-for-sale investments  -  -  -  -  19,329  19,329
Held-to-maturity financial assets  26,187   3,152  16,813  -  -   46,152
Total  103,128  16,094  16,813  7,464  19,329  162,828
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	 	 	 	 Non-derivative	financial	liabilities

UniSIM’s financial liabilities are substantially payable in less than 6 months and interest-free.

 	 (v)		 Equity	price	risk	management

UniSIM is exposed to equity price risks arising from available-for-sale investments. Available-for-sale equity 
investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. UniSIM does not trade in available-for-sale 
investments.

Further details of these investments can be found in Notes 9 and 11 to the financial statements.

    Equity price sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the  
reporting date. 

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, if the prices had been 10% higher/lower while all other 
variables were held constant, UniSIM’s fair value reserves would increase/decrease by $4,161,000 (2011 : 
$1,933,000).

 	 (vi)		 Fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities

Other than the financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, held-to-maturity financial assets and available-
for-sale investments, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities reported in the statement of assets, 
liabilities, reserves and fund balances approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term 
maturity of these financial instruments. The fair value of held-to-maturity and available-for-sale investments 
financial assets are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11 respectively.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

   (i) the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded 
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

   (ii) the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments) 
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow 
analysis; and

   (iii) the fair value of derivative financial instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are 
not available, discounted cash flow analysis is used, based on the applicable yield curve of the duration 
of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives, where 
applicable.

UniSIM classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

   (a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

   (b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

   (c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3).

    financial instruments measured at fair value
  

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

financial assets
2012
Available-for-sale investments:
 - Quoted funds managed by
   external fund managers 16,839  - 16,839  -
  - Quoted debt securities 12,840 12,840  -  -
  - Quoted preference shares 11,933 11,933  -  -

41,612 24,733 16,839  -

Total 41,612 24,733 16,839  -

Financial assets at fair value through  
 profit or loss:
 - forward foreign exchange
   contracts  10  10  -  -

 
 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

financial assets
2011
Available-for-sale investments:
 - Quoted funds managed by
   external fund managers 15,051  - 15,051  -
  - Quoted preference shares  4,278 4,278  -  -

19,329 4,278 15,051  -

Total 19,329 4,278 15,051  -

financial liabilities
2011
Financial assets at fair value
 through profit or loss:
 - forward foreign exchange
   contracts  24  24  -  -

  UniSIM has no financial liabilities carried at fair value in 2012.

  There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy in 2011 and 2012.
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 (c) capital risk management policies and objectives

UniSIM reviews the capital structure at least annually to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern. The 
capital structure of UniSIM comprises of funds and reserves. UniSIM’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2011.

5 hOLDING cOMPANY AND RELATED cOMPANY TRANSAcTIONS

 The ultimate controlling party of UniSIM is the Singapore Institute of Management, a charity registered in Singapore.  Singapore 
Institute of Management (“SIM”) and UniSIM have common trustees. The Governing Council of Singapore Institute of 
Management may appoint, remove or replace a Trustee of UniSIM. Accordingly, the Board of Trustees deemed UniSIM to be 
a subsidiary of Singapore Institute of Management.

 Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the parent entity’s group of companies.

 Some of UniSIM’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these on the basis 
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The inter- company balances are unsecured, 
interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 Significant intercompany transactions are as follows:
2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Group Corporate Service charges paid/payable to parent entity (12,037) (11,436)
Tax deductible donations received from a related company 17,200 13,510
Diploma license fee received from a related company  833  1,531

6 RELATED PARTY TRANSAcTIONS

 Some of the UniSIM’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis determined 
between the parties is reflected in these financial statements.

 Compensation of trustees and key management personnel

 The remuneration of the trustees and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 5,005 4,188
Post-employment benefits  219  161

5,224 4,349

 The remuneration of trustees and key management is determined by the Compensation and Establishment Committee of 
UniSIM having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

 Related party transaction with trustees for advisory services during the year was $12,000 (2011 : $114,000).

 Key management personnel comprises senior executives in the President’s Office, Deans, Directors and Trustees.

 Number of key management in remuneration bands for UniSIM is shown below:

2012 2011

$550,001 to $600,000 1 1
$500,001 to $550,000 0 0
$450,001 to $500,000 1 1
$300,001 to $350,000 2 1
$250,001 to $300,000 3 3
$200,001 to $250,000 3 3
$150,001 to $200,000 10 7
$100,001 to $150,000 1 1
$100,000 and below  4  4

25 21

7 cASh AND cASh EQUIVALENTS

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Cash at bank 14,327 8,553

Fixed deposits 105,233 81,330

Cash on hand  3  3

Total 119,563 89,886

 Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by UniSIM and short-term fixed deposits with an original maturity ranging from 
31 days to 366 days (2011 : 12 days to 368 days). The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values.

 Short-term fixed deposits bear interest at average rates ranging from 0.08% to 1.15% (2011 : 0.51% to 1.18%) per annum and 
are for a tenure of approximately 31 days to 366 days (2011 : 12 days to 366 days).
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8 SUNDRY DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Diploma license fee from a related company (Note 5) 256 2
Course fee receivable 184 378
Interest receivable 481 463
Staff loans 8 5
Ministry of Education 6,804 6,437
Others  17  173

7,750 7,458
Prepayments 2,192 2,823
Deposits 8 3
Forward foreign exchange contracts  10   -
Total  9,960 10,284

 UniSIM’s sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments are denominated in its functional currency.

 Sundry debtors that are neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that the company has assessed to be 
creditworthy.  Accordingly, the management believes that there is no credit provision required.

 UniSIM has no sundry debtors which are past due but not impaired.

 The amount relating to forward foreign exchange contracts of approximately $10,000 (2011 : loss of $24,000) represents the 
mark-to-market gain on derivative financial instruments entered into by Singapore Institute of Management (“SIM”) on behalf 
of UniSIM.

 At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts which SIM has 
committed for the purpose of hedging foreign currency risk arising from the investments in SIM and UniSIM are as follows:

 
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Buy SGD 26,517 25,753

Sell USD 21,700 19,950

9 hELD-TO-MATURITY fINANcIAL ASSETS
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Unquoted debt securities, at amortised cost:
 Current 12,023 29,339
 Non-current 14,696 16,813

26,719 46,152

 The unquoted debt securities comprise bonds issued by financial institutions and public listed companies. As at December 31, 
2012, the unquoted debt securities have nominal values amounting to $26.7 million (2011 : $46.2 million) with coupon rates 
ranging from 1.31% to 4.88% (2011 : 0.88% to 4.87%) per annum and maturity dates ranging from January 2013 to August 
2017 (2011 : January 2012 to August 2017). The average effective interest rate of the debt securities ranges from 1.31% to 
4.88% (2011 : 0.88% to 4.9%) per annum.

 All the bonds carry a fixed coupon rate. The fair values of the securities are provided by banks employing generally market 
accepted valuation parameters and techniques.

 The unquoted debt securities have fair values amounting to $26,719,000 (2011 : $46,152,000).

 The held-to-maturity financial assets are denominated in the functional currency of UniSIM.
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10 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Renovations

 Office
 equipment,
 furniture
 and fittings  computers

 Motor
 vehicles  Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:
 At January 1, 2011 7,578 3,659 24,115 362 35,714
 Additions  63  260  2,425  -  2,748
 At December 31, 2011 7,641 3,919 26,540 362 38,462
 Additions 43 164 2,106 245 2,558
 Disposals  -  (216)  (268) (175)  (659)
 At December 31, 2012 7,684 3,867 28,378 432 40,361

Accumulated depreciation:
 At January 1, 2011 7,349 2,255 14,025 213 23,842
 Depreciation for the year  133  884  4,281  37  5,335
 At December 31, 2011 7,482 3,139 18,306 250 29,177
 Depreciation for the year 95 587 4,458 70 5,210
 Disposals  -  (216)  (268) (175)  (659)
 At December 31, 2012 7,577 3,510 22,496 145 33,728

Carrying amount:
 At December 31, 2011  159  780  8,234 112  9,285

  At December 31, 2012  107  357  5,882 287  6,633

11 AVAILABLE-fOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Quoted funds managed by external fund managers, at fair value 16,839 15,051
Quoted debt securities, at fair value 12,840   -
Quoted preference shares, at fair value 11,933  4,278

41,612 19,329

Analysed as: 
 Current 12,840   -
 Non-current 28,772 19,329

41,612 19,329

 The investments above offer UniSIM the opportunity for return through dividend income, interest income and fair value gains. 
They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair values of these quoted funds are determined as the quoted fund net asset 
values provided by the fund managers and banks at the last market day of the financial year. The net asset values approximate 
the fair values as the funds comprise mainly financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and monetary assets.

 As at December 31, 2012, the quoted debt securities have nominal values amounting to $12,820,000 and bear interest at a 
rate which is linked to the development of the issuer’s Singapore dollar spot rate. Embedded within the quoted debt securities 
are call options which allow the issuer to call on the investments upon the fulfillment of certain conditions. UniSIM also has a 
put option allowing the university to put the investment to the issuer upon the fulfillment of certain conditions. Management has 
assessed the fair values of these options to be zero given that the investments would be put or called at amount close to the 
fair value on the date the options are exercised. The fair values of these quoted debt securities are provided by the financial 
institution employing generally market accepted valuation parameters and techniques. 

 The fair values of the quoted preference shares are determined based on the last traded price on the Singapore Stock 
Exchange at the end of the reporting period. 

 UniSIM’s available-for-sale investments that are not denominated in its functional currency are as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

United States dollar 10,910 10,473

12 GOVERNMENT GRANTS REcEIVED IN ADVANcE

 
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

At beginning of financial year 463  307
Funds received 54 330
Utilised during the year (Note 21) (117) (174)
At end of financial year 400 463

13 OThER PAYABLES
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Parent entity (Note 5) 1,982 1,782
Accruals 10,330 8,727
Others 4,848 5,001
Forward foreign exchange contracts (Note 8)   -  24

17,160 15,534
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 UniSIM’s other payables that are not denominated in its functional currency are as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

United States dollar  180  12
Sterling pound  37   - 

14 EDUcATION fUND

 The SIM University Education Fund is set up to establish, operate, maintain and promote SIM University as a private university. 
The SIM University Education Fund has been conferred the Institution of a Public Character status.

 The following represents the SIM University Education Fund:
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Balance at January 1 90,017 88,619
Total comprehensive income for the year  5,631  1,398
Balance at December 31 95,648 90,017

Represented by:

current assets
Cash at bank 1,373  -
Fixed deposits 41,267 17,693
Other receivables 294 372
Forward foreign exchange contracts 10  -
Held-to-maturity financial assets  8,008 29,339
Available-for-sale investments  9,128  -

60,080 47,404
Non-current assets
Available-for-sale investments 20,773 19,329
Held-to-maturity financial assets 10,661 16,813
Property, plant and equipment  5,561  8,144

36,995 44,286
Less: current liability
Other payables  1,427  1,673

Net assets 95,648 90,017

15 fAIR VALUE RESERVE

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

General fund 21   -
Education fund 2,477  944

2,498  944

Movement during the year:
At beginning of financial year 944 1,865
Arising during the year 1,554 (849)
Reclassification to profit or loss from equity on disposal of available for sale investments   -  (72)
At end of financial year 2,498  944

 The fair value reserve relates to revaluation of the available-for-sale investments.

16 OThER RESTRIcTED fUNDS

 Other restricted funds comprise the following funds:

 Name of fund Purpose

 Sponsorship awards fund Donations and sponsorships received for the purpose of awarding  
    of scholarships, medals, prizes to deserving students.

 Other funds - Spring Singapore and Funds received for the purpose of course development for
  Economic Development Board Biomedical Sciences Proof of Concept Scheme and Executive  

    Master in Technology Entrepreneurship and Rotman Design Work.

 Sponsorship
 awards fund

 Other
 funds  Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at January 1, 2011 144 29 173
Utilised during the year  (1)  -  (1)
Balance at December 31, 2011 143  29 172
Utilised during the year  (1)  -  (1)
Balance at December 31, 2012 142  29 171

Represented by:

Cash and cash equivalents 142  29 171
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17 OPERATING INcOME
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Course fees 83,251 77,492
Application fees 272 248
Diploma license fees (Note 5) 833 1,531
Graduation function 80 81
Executive seminars 105 47
Other operating income  660  218

85,201 79,617

18 STAff AND MANPOWER cOSTS
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 25,798 23,116
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund 2,779 2,411
Other staff benefits  1,150  907

29,727 26,434

19 OThER OPERATING EXPENDITURE

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Administrative expenses 3,972 3,545
Group Corporate Services charges paid/payable to parent entity (Note 5) 12,037 11,436

16,009 14,981

20 NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURE
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts  - 109
Realised exchange loss on forward foreign exchange contracts  - 26
Change in fair value of fair value through profit or loss investments  - 28
Amortisation of held-to-maturity financial assets premium 164  -
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments  - 61
Loss on maturity of held-to-maturity financial assets 222  78

386 302

21 NON-OPERATING INcOME
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Tax deductible donations received from:
 Related company (Note 5) 17,200 13,510
 Outside parties 123 198
Interest income from fixed deposits and held-to-maturity financial assets 1,818 1,534
Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 34  -
Realised exchange gain on forward foreign exchange contracts 457  -
Government grant income (Note 12) 117 174
Income from other restricted funds (Note 16) 1 1
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 75  -
Dividend income on available-for-sale investments 480 101
Other income  478  959

20,783 16,477

22 TAXATION

 With effect from Year of Assessment 2008, the requirement for charities to spend at least 80% of their annual receipts on 
charitable objects in Singapore within 2 years in order to enjoy income tax exemption has been removed. Consequently, 
Section 13M has been repealed by Section 13(1)(zm) and UniSIM’s receipts for the financial years ended December 31, 2011 
and 2012 are exempt from income tax.
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23 cOMMITMENTS
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment 726 739

24 OPERATING LEASE cOMMITMENTS
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

 Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense 
 during the year 97 121

  At the end of the reporting period, UniSIM has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall  
  due as follows:
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Future minimum lease payments payable:

Within one year 73 80
In the second to fifth years inclusive 55 117

 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by UniSIM for certain of its office equipment. Leases are negotiated for 
the range from 2 to 5 years and rentals are fixed for an average of 2 to 5 years.

notes to the  
finanCial stateMents 
December 31, 2012

sim university education fund financial report



73

In the opinion of the Trustees, the financial statements as set out on pages 74 to 96 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of SIM University Education Fund as at December 31, 2012, and of the results, changes in funds and reserves and 
cash flows of SIM University Education Fund for the financial year ended December 31, 2012 and at the date of this statement there 
are reasonable grounds to believe that SIM University Education Fund will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES

Lim Soon Hock

Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

Date: 25 March 2013

Report on the financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SIM University Education Fund (the “Fund”) which comprise the statement 
of financial position as at December 31, 2012, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and 
reserves and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
notes, as set out on pages 74 to 96.

Management’s Responsibility for the financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions 
of the Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for such devising and maintaining a 
system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from 
unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the 
preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control relevant to 
the Fund’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of the Fund are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of, the state of affairs of the Fund as at December 31, 2012 and of 
the results, changes in funds and reserves and cash flows of the Fund for the year ended on that date.

Report on other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Fund in accordance with the requirements of Charities (Institutions 
of a Public Character) Regulation of the Charities Act, Chapter 37.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the year:

(a) The use of the donation moneys was not in accordance with the objectives of the Fund as required under regulation 16 of the 
Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and

(b) The Fund has not complied with the requirements of regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the Charities (Institutions of a 
Public Character) Regulations.

Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
Date: 25 March 2013
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Note 2012 2011
$’000 $’000

ASSETS
current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 42,640 17,693
Other receivables 8 304  372
Held-to-maturity financial assets 9  8,008 29,339
Available-for-sale investments 11  9,128   -
Total current assets 60,080 47,404

Non-current assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets 9 10,661 16,813
Plant and equipment 10 5,561 8,144
Available-for-sale investments 11 20,773 19,329
Total non-current assets 36,995 44,286

Total assets 97,075 91,690

LIABILITY AND EQUITY
current liability
Other payables 12  1,427  1,673

funds and reserves
Fair value reserve 13 2,477 944
Accumulated surplus 93,171 89,073
Total funds and reserves 95,648 90,017

Total liability and equity 97,075 91,690

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Note 2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Donation income 14 17,323 13,708
Other operating income 289 218
Course expenditure (2,044) (2,721)
Staff and manpower costs 15 (5,015) (3,484)
Depreciation expense (4,335) (4,322)
Other operating expenditure 16 (3,647)  (2,455)
Non-operating expenditure 17 (366)  (302)
Non-operating income 18  1,893  1,677

Net surplus for the year 4,098 2,319

Other comprehensive income:
 Available-for-sale investments 13  1,533  (921)

Total comprehensive income for the year  5,631  1,398

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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 fair
 value
 reserve

 Accumulated
  surplus   Total

 $’000  $’000  $’000

Balance at January 1, 2011 1,865 86,754 88,619

Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year  (921)  2,319  1,398

Balance at December 31, 2011  944 89,073 90,017

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,533  4,098  5,631

Balance at December 31, 2012 2,477 93,171 95,648

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

Note 2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Operating activities
 Net surplus for the year 4,098  2,319
 Adjustments for:
  Depreciation expense 4,335  4,322
  Interest income (1,100) (1,151)
  Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments  - 61
  Loss on maturity of held-to-maturity financial assets 222 78
  Amortisation of held-to-maturity financial assets premium 144  -
  Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts (34) 109
  Change in fair value of fair value through profit or loss investments  - 28
  Dividend income on available-for–sale investments (271) (101)
  Management fees expense on available-for-sale investments  146  131
 Surplus before movements in working capital  7,540  5,796

  Other payables  (222)  (1,451)
 Cash generated from operations  7,318 4,345

 Interest received  1,178  941
Net cash from operating activities  8,496  5,286

Investing activities
 Purchase of plant and equipment (1,752) (2,349)
 Proceeds on matured available-for-sale investments  - 9,757
 Dividends received from available-for-sale investments 202  -
 Purchase of available-for–sale investments (9,116) (6,200)
 Proceeds on matured held-to-maturity financial assets 38,198 31,038
 Purchase of held-to-maturity financial assets (11,081) (49,463)
 Proceeds on fair value through profit or loss investments  -  2,000
Net cash from (used in) investing activities 16,451 (15,217)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 24,947 (9,931)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 17,693 27,624
cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 42,640 17,693

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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1 GENERAL

 The SIM University Education Fund (the “Fund”) was established on September 1, 2005 to operate, maintain and promote 
UniSIM as a private university for the advancement of education, to enlarge and improve UniSIM and to engage in activities 
relating to education, higher or tertiary education, teaching, learning, open learning, continuing education, research and 
development, knowledge development, human resource development and management, training, retraining and upgrading of 
the workforce, development of curricula and dissemination of education materials and research findings.

 The Trustees of the Fund at the date of this report are:

 Mr Lim Soon Hock (Chairman)
 Professor Cham Tao Soon
 Professor Cheong Hee Kiat
 Mr Ronald Tan Hee Huan
 Mr Lam Siew Wah
 Dr. Josephine Kwa Lay Keng
 Professor Chong Chi Tat
 Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie
 Mr Ramasamy Dhinakaran
 Mr Noel Hon Chia Chun (Appointed on June 22, 2012)

 The Fund is approved as an institution of a public character in accordance with Section 37(9) of the Income Tax Act.  The Fund 
was granted tax-exempt status by Ministry of Education for another 3 year period from November 19, 2011 to November 18, 
2014.

 The Fund is registered as a charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37.

 The Fund is administered by a SIM University Education Fund Committee, at least half of whom are independent (unless an 
application for waiver of this condition is approved by the Minister), and at least half of whom are citizens of Singapore. The 
Committee administers the Fund in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Minimum Operating Rules of the Fund.

2 SUMMARY Of SIGNIfIcANT AccOUNTING POLIcIES

 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, except 
for the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions 
of the Charities Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

 ADOPTION OF REVISED FINANCIAL STANDARDS – On January 1, 2012, the Fund has adopted all the new and revised 
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations. The adoption 
of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the Fund’s accounting policies and has no material 
effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs that are relevant to the Fund were issued but not 
effective:

 • Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating to Presentation of Items of Other  
 Comprehensive Income

 • FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

 Amendments to fRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating to Presentation of Items of 
Other Comprehensive Income

 The amendments on Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) presentation will require the Fund to present in separate groupings, 
OCI items that might be recycled i.e. reclassified to profit or loss (e.g. foreign currency translation) and those items that would 
not be recycled. The tax effects recognised for the OCI items would also be captured in the respective grouping, although 
there is a choice to present OCI items before tax or net of tax.

 Changes arising from these amendments to FRS 1 will take effect from annual period beginning on or after July 1, 2012, with 
full retrospective application.

 fRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

 FRS 113 is a single new Standard that applies to both financial and non-financial items. It replaces the guidance on fair value 
measurement and related disclosures in other Standards, with the exception of measurement dealt with under FRS 102 
Share-based Payment, FRS 17 Leases, net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories and value-in-use in FRS 36 Impairment of 
Assets.

 FRS 113 provides a common fair value definition and hierarchy applicable to the fair value measurement of assets, liabilities, 
and an entity’s own equity instruments within its scope, but does not change the requirements in other Standards regarding 
which items should be measured or disclosed at fair value.

 FRS 113 will be effective prospectively from annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Comparative information 
is not required for periods before initial application.

 
 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Trustees have considered and anticipated that the adoption of 

the FRSs and INT FRSs in future years will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Fund in the year of 
their initial adoption.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Fund’s statement of financial 
position when the Fund becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 financial assets

 All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under 
a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are 
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit 
or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

 Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”, 
“held-to-maturity”, “available-for-sale” financial assets and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature 
and purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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	 Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(FVTPL)

 Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

 A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

 • it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

 • it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Fund manages together and has a recent actual  
 pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

 • it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

 A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

 • such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
 arise; or

 • the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its  
 performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Fund’s documented risk management or  
 investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

 • it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39 permits the entire combined  
 contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset. Fair 
value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

 Held-to-maturity investments

 Bonds with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where the Fund has a positive intent and ability to hold to 
maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

 Available-for-sale	financial	assets

 Certain investments held by the Fund are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value is 
determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and 
foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is 
disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. Dividends on available- for-sale equity instruments are 
recognised in profit or loss when the right to receive payments is established. The fair value of available-for-sale monetary 
assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at end of the 
reporting date. The change in fair value attributable to translation differences that result from a change in amortised cost of the 
asset is recognised in profit or loss, and other changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.

 Effective interest method

 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating interest 
income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, 
a shorter period. Income and expense are recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

 Sundry debtors

 Sundry debtors that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as “loans 
and receivables”. Sundry debtors are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-
term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 Impairment	of	financial	assets

 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired 
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have been impacted.

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception 
of sundry debtors where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a sundry debtor 
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off  
are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit 
or loss.

 With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised,  
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss, to the extent the carrying amount of the investment 
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 
been recognised.

 In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss, is recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income.

 Derecognition	of	financial	assets

 The Fund derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Fund neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the 
Fund recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Fund retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Fund continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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 financial liabilities

	 Other	financial	liabilities

 Other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

	 Derecognition	of	financial	liabilities

 The Fund derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, its obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

 Derivative	financial	instruments

 The Fund uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign currency exchange contracts to manage its exposure 
to foreign exchange rate risk.

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured 
to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately 
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in 
income and expenditure statements depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Fund designates certain derivatives 
as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions.

 A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more 
than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current 
assets or current liabilities.

 Embedded derivatives

 Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their 
risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair 
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

 An embedded derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the hybrid 
instrument to which the embedded derivative relates is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled 
within 12 months. Other embedded derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the  
following bases:

 Renovations   - 25%
 Office equipment, furniture and fittings  - 25%
 Computers   - 33.33%

 Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

 The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, the Fund reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  Where it 
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Fund estimates the recoverable amount of the 
cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

 Non-endowed donations are recognised in the financial year they are received.

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The financial statements of the Fund are presented in the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).

 In preparing the financial statements of the Fund, transactions in currencies other than the Fund’s functional currency are 
recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date where 
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included in 
profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are 
included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of 
which gains and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.  For such non-monetary items, any exchange 
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
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 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and fixed deposits which are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3 cRITIcAL AccOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND kEY SOURcES Of ESTIMATION UNcERTAINTY

 In the application of the Fund’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 (i) critical judgements in applying the fund’s accounting policies

  Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a significant  
 effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements except as follows:

  Classification of held-to-maturity investments

 The Fund follows the guidance of FRS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payment and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. In making this 
judgement, the Fund evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Fund fails to hold 
these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances, for example, selling an insignificant amount 
close to maturity, it will be required to reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale. The investment would therefore 
be measured at fair value and no longer at amortised cost.

 (ii) key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are as discussed below:

  Fair value of financial instruments

 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. 
These techniques involve uncertainties and require assumptions and judgements regarding prepayments, credit 
risks and discount rates. Changes in these assumptions will significantly affect the estimated value of the financial 
instruments. The Fund uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing 
on end of the reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are some of the common 
techniques used to calculate the fair value of these instruments. The carrying amounts of these financial instruments 
are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11 respectively.

  Useful lives of plant and equipment

 Management exercises their judgment in estimating the useful lives of plant and equipment and reviews the useful 
lives at the end of each annual reporting period. The total carrying amount of plant and equipment is $5,561,000  
(2011 : $8,144,000).

4 fINANcIAL INSTRUMENTS, fINANcIAL RISkS AND cAPITAL RISk MANAGEMENT

 (a) Categories of financial instruments

  The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 42,640  17,693 
Loans and receivables 294  372
Forward foreign exchange contracts 10   - 
Held-to-maturity investments 18,669 46,152
Available-for-sale financial assets 29,901 19,329

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

financial liabilities
Forward foreign exchange contracts   - 24

Other payables  1,427  1,649

 (b) financial risk management policies and objectives

 Financial risk management policies and objectives are managed at the Singapore Institute of Management Group 
(“SIM Group”) level.

 SIM Group has documented financial risk management policies. These policies set out the SIM Group’s overall business 
strategies and its risk management philosophy. The Governing Council of SIM provides written principles for overall 
financial risk management and written policies covering specific areas, such as market risk (including foreign exchange 
risk, interest rate risk, equity price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, cash flow interest rate risk, use of derivative financial 
instruments and investing excess cash. Such written policies are reviewed annually by the Governing Council and 
periodic reviews are undertaken to ensure that the SIM Group’s policy guidelines are complied with. Risk management 
is carried out by Treasury Department under the policies approved by the Governing Council.

 The Fund’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of financial 
performance.

 There has been no significant change to the Fund’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below:
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	 	 i)	 	 Foreign	exchange	risk	management

  The Fund’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movements of the United States 
dollar against the Singapore dollar.

  At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated 
in currencies other than the Fund’s functional currency are as follows:

  Assets
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

United States dollar 10,910 10,473

  The monetary liabilities are denominated in the Fund’s functional currency.

  The Fund uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign currency risk in the local  
reporting currency. The Treasury Department of the Fund’s parent entity is responsible for hedging the net 
position in each borrowing currency.

  Foreign currency sensitivity

  The sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk is 10%, which is the change in foreign exchange 
rate that the trustees deem reasonably possible which will affect outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items at period end.

  If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of the Fund without considering the 
effect of the derivative financial instruments, which is Singapore dollar, profit or loss will increase (decrease) by:

 United States dollar impact
2012 2011

$’000 $’000

Profit or loss (1,091) (1,047)

  If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of the Fund, there would be 
an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss.

	 	 ii)	 	 Interest	rate	risk	management

  The Fund is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing assets. The 
Fund maintains its cash and cash equivalents and held-to-maturity financial assets in fixed rate instruments and 
does not have any significant interest-bearing liabilities.

  All financial assets and liabilities at year end bear no interest rate except for cash, fixed deposits and held-to-
maturity financial assets. The average interest rate on held-to- maturity financial asset is disclosed in Note 9.

  The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for cash and cash 
equivalent balances at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of 
the financial year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease represents the Trustee’s assessment of the possible 
change in interest rate.

  If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Fund’s 
net surplus for the years ended December 31, 2012 would increase/decrease by approximately $0.4 million  
(2011 : $0.2 million).

	 	 iii)	 	 Credit	risk	management

  The Fund is not exposed to significant credit risk as its cash, fixed deposits, available-for-sale investments and 
held-to-maturity investments are held with reputable financial institutions.

 	 iv)	 	 Liquidity	risk	management

  The Fund maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance its 
activities.

    Non-derivative	financial	assets

  The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. The tables below have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be 
earned on those assets except where the Fund anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

 fixed rate  Non-interest bearing

 Less than
 6 months

 6 months
 to
 12 months

 More
 than
 12 months

 On demand
 or within
 1 year  

 More
 than
 1 year  Total

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

2012
Cash and cash equivalents  42,640  -  -  -  -  42,640
Loans and receivables  -  -  -  294  -  294
Available-for-sale investments  -  -  -  9,128  20,773  29,901
Held-to-maturity financial assets  8,008  -  10,661  -  -  18,669
Total  50,648  -  10,661  9,422  20,773  91,504

2011
Cash and cash equivalents  17,693  -  -  -  -  17,693
Loans and receivables  -  -  -  372  -  372
Available-for-sale investments  -  -  -  -  19,329  19,329
Held-to-maturity financial assets  26,187  3,152  16,813  -  -  46,152
Total  43,880  3,152  16,813   372  19,329  83,546
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	 	 Non-derivative	financial	liabilities

  The Fund’s financial liabilities are substantially payable in less than 6 months and interest free.

	 	 v)	 	 Equity	price	risk	management

  The Fund is exposed to equity price risks arising from available-for-sale investments. Available-for-sale equity 
investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The Fund does not trade in available- for-sale 
investments.

  Further details of these investments can be found in Notes 9 and 11 to the financial statements.

    Equity price sensitivity analysis

  The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the reporting 
date. In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, if the prices had been 10% higher/lower while all other 
variables were held constant, the Fund’s fair value reserves for the years ended December 31, 2012 would 
increase/decrease by $2,990,000 (2011 : $1,933,000).

	 	 vi)	 	 Fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities

  Other than the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets and available-
for-sale investments, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities reported in the statement of assets, 
liabilities, reserves and fund balances approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term 
maturity of these financial instruments.  The fair value held-to-maturity financial assets and available-for-sale 
investments are disclosed in Notes 9 and 11 respectively.

  The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

  (i) the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded 
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

  (ii) the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments) 
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow 
analysis; and

  (iii) the fair value of derivative financial instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are 
not available, discounted cash flow analysis is used, based on the applicable yield curve of the duration 
of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives, where 
applicable.

  The Fund classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

  (a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

  (b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (ie. as prices) or indirectly (ie. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

  (c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)  
(Level 3).

   financial instruments measured at fair value

 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

financial assets
2012
Available-for-sale investments:
- Quoted funds managed by
  external fund managers 16,579   - 16,579   -
- Quoted debt securities 9,128 9,128   -   -
- Quoted preference shares  4,194  4,194   -   -

29,901 13,322 16,579   -

Financial assets at fair value
 through profit or loss:
 - forward foreign exchanges  
 contracts  10  10   -   -

 
 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

financial assets
2011

Available-for-sale investments:
 - Quoted funds managed by  
 external fund managers 15,051   - 15,051   -
- Quoted preference shares  4,278  4,278   -   -

19,329  4,278 15,051   -

financial liabilities
2011
Financial assets at fair value
 through profit or loss:
 - forward foreign exchanges  
 contracts  24  24   -   -

  The Fund has no financial liabilities carried at fair value in 2012.

  There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy in 2011 and 2012.
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 (c) capital risk management policies and objectives

 The Fund reviews the capital structure at least annually to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern. 
The capital structure of the Fund comprises of funds and reserves. The Fund’s overall strategy remains unchanged 
from 2011.

5 hOLDING cOMPANY AND RELATED cOMPANY TRANSAcTIONS

 The immediate and ultimate controlling parties of the Fund are SIM University and Singapore Institute of Management, both 
charities registered in Singapore. Singapore Institute of Management (“SIM”) and SIM University (“UniSIM”) have common 
trustees. The Governing Council of Singapore Institute of Management may appoint, remove or replace a Trustee of UniSIM. 
Accordingly, the Board of Trustees deemed UniSIM to be a subsidiary of Singapore Institute of Management.

 Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of SIM’s group of companies.

 Some of the Fund’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these on the basis 
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The inter-company balances and transactions are 
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 Significant intercompany transactions are as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Group Corporate Service charges paid/payable to SIM (1,284)  (647)
Tax deductible donations received from a related company 17,200 13,510

6 RELATED PARTY TRANSAcTIONS

 Some of the Fund’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis determined 
between the parties is reflected in these financial statements.

	 Compensation	of	trustees	and	key	management	personnel

 The remuneration of the trustees and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Short-term benefits 936 225
Post-employment benefits   46   5

982 230

 The remuneration of Trustees and key management is determined by the Compensation and Establishment Committee of 
UniSIM having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

 Key management personnel comprises senior executives in the President’s Office, Deans, Directors and Trustees.

 Number of key management in remuneration bands for Fund is shown below:
 

2012 2011

$550,001 to $600,000 0 0
$500,001 to $550,000 0 0
$450,001 to $500,000 0 0
$300,001 to $350,000 0 0
$250,001 to $300,000 0 0
$200,001 to $250,000 1 2
$150,001 to $200,000 3 0
$100,001 to $150,000 1 0
$100,000 and below  1  0

 6  2

7 cASh AND cASh EQUIVALENTS
 

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Cash at bank 1,373  -
Fixed deposits 41,267 17,693

42,640 17,693

 Fixed deposits bear interest at average rates ranging from 0.50% to 1.15% (2011 : 0.72% to 1.18%) per annum and are for a 
tenure of approximately 14 to 192 days (2011 : 31 to 183 days).

8 OThER REcEIVABLES
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Other receivables 294 372
Forward foreign exchange contracts  10  -  

304 372

 In 2012, the amount relating to forward foreign exchange contracts of approximately $10,000 (2011 : loss of $24,000) 
represents the mark-to-market gain on derivative financial instruments entered into by Singapore Institute of Management 
(“SIM”) on behalf of the Fund.
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 At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts which SIM has 
committed for the purpose of hedging foreign currency risk arising from the investments in SIM and the Fund are as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Buy SGD 26,517 25,753

Sell USD 21,700 19,950

9 hELD-TO-MATURITY fINANcIAL ASSETS
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Unquoted debt securities, at amortised cost:
 Current 8,008 29,339
 Non-current 10,661 16,813

18,669 46,152

 The unquoted debt securities comprise bonds issued by financial institutions and public listed companies. As at December 31, 
2012, the unquoted debt securities have nominal values amounting to $ 18.7 million (2011 : $46.2 million) with coupon rates 
ranging from 1.31 % to 4.88% (2011 : 0.88% to 4.87%) per annum and maturity dates ranging from February 2013 to August 
2017 (2011 : January 2012 to August 2017). The average effective interest rate of the debt securities ranges from 1.31% to 
4.88% (2011 : 0.88% to 4.9%) per annum.

 All the bonds carry a fixed coupon rate. The fair values of the securities are provided by banks employing generally market 
accepted valuation parameters and techniques.

 The unquoted debt securities have fair values amounting to $18,669,000 (2011 : $46,152,000).

 The held-to-maturity financial assets are denominated in the functional currency of the Fund.

10 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
  

 Renovations

 Office
 equipment,
 furniture
 and fittings  computers  Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:
  At January 1, 2011 7,205 788 16,406 24,399
  Additions  63  2  2,284  2,349
  At December 31, 2011 7,268 790 18,690 26,748
  Additions 42 51 1,659 1,752
  Disposals   -   -  (50)  (50)
  At December 31, 2012 7,310 841 20,299 28,450

Accumulated depreciation:
  At January 1, 2011 6,976 626  6,680 14,282
  Depreciation for the year  133 125  4,064  4,322
  At December 31, 2011 7,109 751 10,744 18,604
  Depreciation for the year 95 47 4,193 4,335
 Disposals   -   -  (50)  (50)
  At December 31, 2012 7,204 798 14,887 22,889

Carrying amount:
  At December 31, 2011  159  39  7,946  8,144

  At December 31, 2012  106  43  5,412  5,561
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11 AVAILABLE-fOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Quoted funds managed by external fund managers, at fair value 16,579 15,051
Quoted debt securities, at fair value 9,128   -
Quoted preference shares, at fair value  4,194  4,278

29,901 19,329

Analysed as:
 Current 9,128   -
 Non-current 20,773 19,329

29,901 19,329

 The investments above offer the Fund the opportunity for return through dividend income, interest income and fair value gains. 
They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair values of these quoted funds are determined as the quoted fund net asset 
values provided by the fund managers and banks at the last market day of the financial year. The net asset values approximate 
the fair values as the funds comprise mainly financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and monetary assets.

 As at December 31, 2012, the quoted debt securities have nominal values amounting to $9,116,000 and bear interest at a 
rate which is linked to the development of the issuer’s Singapore dollar spot rate. Embedded within the quoted debt securities 
are call options which allow the issuer to call on the investments upon the fulfillment of certain conditions. The Fund also has 
a put option allowing the Fund to put the investment to the issuer upon the fulfillment of certain conditions. Management has 
assessed the fair values of these options to be zero given that the investments would be put or called at amount close to the 
fair value on the date the options are exercised. The fair values of these quoted debt securities are provided by the financial 
institution employing generally market accepted valuation parameters and techniques.

 The fair values of the quoted preference shares are determined based on the last traded price on the Singapore Stock 
Exchange at the end of the reporting period.

 The available-for-sale investments that are not denominated in its functional currency are as follows:

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

United States dollar 10,910 10,473

12 OThER PAYABLES
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Accruals 1,427 1,649
Forward foreign exchange contracts (Note 8)   -  24

1,427  1,673

13 fAIR VALUE RESERVE
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

At beginning of financial year 944 1,865
Arising during the year 1,533 (849)
Reclassification to profit or loss from equity on disposal of available for sale investments   -  (72)
At end of financial year 2,477   944

 
 The fair value reserve relates to revaluation of the available-for-sale investments.  As these investments are funded by the 

Fund, the fair value reserve forms part of the Fund.

14 DONATION INcOME
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Tax deductible donations received from:
 Related company (Note 5) 17,200 13,510
 Outside parties  123  198

17,323 13,708

15 STAff AND MANPOWER cOSTS
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Wages and salaries 4,272 2,972
Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund 532 362
Other staff benefits  211  150

5,015 3,484
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16 OThER OPERATING EXPENDITURE
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Group Corporate service charges (Note 5) 1,284 647
Repairs and maintenance expense 2,015 1,601
Other administrative expenses  348  207

3,647 2,455

17 NON-OPERATING EXPENDITURE
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts   - 109
Realised exchange loss on forward foreign exchange contracts   -  26
Change in fair value of fair value through profit or loss investments   -  28
Amortisation of held-to-maturity financial assets premium 144   -
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments   -  61
Loss on maturity of held-to-maturity financial assets 222  78

366 302

18 NON-OPERATING INcOME
  

2012 2011
$’000 $’000

Interest income from fixed deposits and held-to-maturity financial assets 1,100 1,151
Dividend income on available-for-sale investments 271  101
Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 34   -
Other income   488  425

1,893 1,677
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